
ANNUAL  
REPORT

2020



*Please note

The content on these 
flaps are included as 
part of the cover and 
are folded in.

TO HELP MEMBERS 
ACHIEVE THEIR  
FINANCIAL GOALS 
BY BUILDING 
RELATIONSHIPS FOR 
MUTUAL BENEFIT

OUR 
MISSION





■   Community First is a member owned provider of 
financial services in the greater Sydney market

■    We are devoted to “people helping people” to 
achieve their financial goals 

■    We continue to challenge stereotypes to remain 
relevant to the members and market needs 

■   We will help create better and more sustainable 
communities where we operate 

■    Our people deliver service standards superior 
than our competitors and “a customer 
experience” that promotes  
why we are different

■    We make profits to reinvest in more services, 
member and community benefits and fair fees

■    We expect to grow as a viable community 
banking alternative 

■    We manage our business for the long term and 
intend to stay a mutual into perpetuity 

OUR 
VISION
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Total Assets: The total of all 
Community First Credit Union 
assets have grown by 3.7%. 

Total Assets
$’000

Gross Loans to Members
$’000

Member Deposits
$’000

Total Members’ Equity
$’000

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

Gross Loans to Members: 
Gross Loans to Members 
is the total amount owed to 
Community First from home 
loans, personal loans, credit 
cards and overdrafts. 

Member Deposits: Member 
Deposits consist of savings, 
term deposits and membership 
shares.

Total Members’ Equity: Total 
Members' Equity is accumulated 
profits and reserves held by 
Community First. The credit 
union’s members’ equity now 
exceeds $96 million. The credit 
union has never been stronger. 
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2019-20 2018-19 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16

INCOME STATEMENT

Total income $'000 43,093 46,225 45,320 44,824 44,007

Interest income $'000 36,369 39,616 38,300 37,039 36,217

Net interest income $'000 24,042 24,059 21,815 21,687 21,524

Impairment losses on loans and advances $'000 580 400 400 558 561

Operating expenses 1 $'000 29,017 28,835 25,503 25,662 25,636

Operating profit after tax 2 $'000 1,078 1,203 2,201 2,511 2,401

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Total assets $'000 1,137,889 1,097,498 1,066,278 950,144 909,106

Gross loans and advances to Members 3 $'000 845,618 879,060 814,368 771,711 744,693

Provision for loan impairment $'000 1,611 1,431 1,431 1,431 1,431

Member deposits $'000 1,006,146 994,652 966,072 859,091 820,003

Total Members' equity $'000 96,087 92,810 88,843 81,169 78,658

RATIO ANALYSIS

Total revenue to average assets % 3.86 4.35 4.49 4.82 4.86

Operating expenses to average assets % 2.60 2.71 2.53 2.76 2.83

Net profit after tax to average assets % 0.10 0.11 0.22 0.27 0.27

Net profit after tax to average equity % 1.14 1.34 2.59 3.14 3.25

Net interest margin to average assets % 2.15 2.26 2.16 2.33 2.53

Provision for loan impairment to average loans % 0.19 0.17 0.18 0.19 0.19

Net assets per Member $ 1,742 1,700 1,532 1,461 1,418

STATISTICAL INFORMATION

Number of Members 4  55,226 54,597 57,933 55,431 55,488

New Members  4,555 4,438 6,331 3,763 5,749

Notes:

1.  Excludes Impairment losses on loans and advances.

2.  Refer to Note 32 Trademark Dispute.

3.  Excludes Provision for loan impairment.

4.  Non-IFRS information has not been audited or reviewed by the external auditors, but has been sourced from the core banking system and includes regular dormant account removals.

FIVE YEAR HISTORY
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Our commitment to the communities in which our 
members live and work is summed up in our name: 
Community First. Taking an active role in the community 
has always been central to who we are, and this financial 
year saw us achieve remarkable milestones, strengthen 
existing community ties, and forge new alliances.

Members, on behalf of the Board, I welcome you to 
the 61st Annual Report. It would be remiss of me not 
to mention the highly unusual environment in which we 
operate and the impact of a global pandemic. However, 
it is important that we remember that Community First 
only exists for the benefit of members and our mission of 
“helping members achieve their financial goals by building 
relationships for mutual benefit” is even more important 
today than at any time in our history.

A record number of Australians have been economically 
impacted by this once-in-a-100 year event and regrettably, 
the impact on some Australians has been far greater than 
just their livelihood. Our thoughts are with our members 
going through these challenging times.

Record low interest rates

Community First is a financial institution and it is our 
mutual responsibility to always protect our members 
money. Australia’s monetary policy is in uncharted territory 
with interest rates at unforeseen levels. The benefit to 
borrowers is an opportunity to use credit at incredibly low 
rates whereas the impact on depositors is the reality that 
their life savings will earn less money from which they can 
live off. Community First is conscious of these competing 
forces and tries to balance the needs of lenders and 
depositors when it sets its always competitive interest 
rates.

However, it is likely that Australia will enter into a slow 
credit growth environment for some time which is likely to 
keep interest rates low.

The impact of legislation

Community First is a member of the Customer-Owned 
Banking Association (COBA) which continues to lobby 
for more proportionate legislation so that Australian 
consumers continue to have viable banking alternatives. 
The findings of the Royal Commission into Misconduct 
in the Banking, Superannuation and Financial Services 
Industry, (led by Commissioner Hayne), concluded that 

CHAIR'S REPORT

Stephen Nugent 
Chair of Directors

Member and owner since 2002
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Australia did not need more regulation, yet there appears 
to be a never ending stream of changes that are typically 
more widely felt by those smaller institutions that were not 
part of the original scope of the commission’s review. Until 
institutions such as Community First receive equal capital 
treatment as the Big Banks, the latter will continue to have 
an unfair advantage which affects competition.

The Banking Executive and Accountability Regime has 
been implemented and the proposed Product Design 
and Distribution Obligations, amongst others, are likely 
to continue to increase the costs associated with being a 
licensed Authorised Deposit-Taking Institution (ADI).

Success is measured in many ways

In this highly volatile and unpredictable environment, 
Community First not only met these challenges, we 
continued to build and grow our Balance Sheet, now 
in excess of $1 billion dollars. Also, our ability to post 
a $1.1m after tax profit highlights the resilience of 
the mutual business model which does not try and 
balance shareholder interests with customer benefits as 
shareholders seeking dividends do not exist.

Defending our name 

The defence of the ‘Community First’ name via a 
trademark dispute has been heard in the Federal Court of 
Appeal and we expect a final verdict in the 2021 financial 
year. It has been a process that has come at significant 
expense, and this has impacted our profit result for the 
2019 / 2020 financial year. However, as a mutual, we do 
not pay dividends to external shareholders and have used 
our profitability to fund the court case. We will keep our 
members updated as events unfold. 

Our brand has a proud 61-year legacy and the federal 
court victory in 2019 served to send a strong message that 
Community First will defend its rights when challenged. 
Community First, and other mutuals, have provided 
community banking for many years and I am confident 
that our members share our passion for the right to use 
and defend our longstanding name and business model.

Staying relevant 

The pace of social and technological change is increasing 
and Community First remains agile enough to transform 
itself as this evolution occurs. Community First has a 
proud history of innovation with retail concept stores, 
offset accounts on fixed rate loans, the Matrimoney 

account and Visa wristbands to promote contactless 
payments. This innovation process will continue. 

At some point in the future, Community First expects to 
change its name to include the word “Bank” and avoid 
unnecessary explanations of what we do. However, 
regardless of the name, Community First’s purpose to 
help members achieve their financial goals will remain as a 
simple reminder of our goals and objectives. 

We remain proud to have withstood the challenges of 
the past year and reaffirmed our position as a strong and 
stable competitor in the financial services sector.

Thank you 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow 
Board members for their continued enthusiasm and 
commitment to the credit union and on behalf of 
the Board, express our gratitude for the passion our 
management and employees bring to their roles, and 
their willingness to embrace change. We are a values 
based institution and people are the biggest advocates 
of our business model. It has been a challenging 12 
months with the organisation working tirelessly to help 
members navigate through the pandemic crisis and to 
assist members through the ordeal of the 2019/20 NSW 
bushfires. However, Community First’s strong financial 
position means that we can take care of members’ money 
whilst members take care of their friends and families in 
troubled times.

To our members and wonderful advocates and 
ambassadors of our brand and business, please 
continue to tell all who will listen that they can join a 
banking institution that only exists for their benefit and 
which shares its success with those members through 
competitive interest rates, fair fees and standards of 
service higher than our competitors. We continued to 
increase assets in excess of one billion dollars and intend 
to keep striving for more – together.

Stephen Nugent

Chair of Directors

5



Community First Credit UnionANNUAL REPORT 2020

The 2019/20 financial year has been one of many 
challenges, and as all Australians navigate a path 
through the COVID-19 pandemic, the thoughts of 
everyone at Community First are with our members, 
hoping that you stay safe and well during these 
extraordinary times.

In what has been an unprecedented operating 
environment, I am pleased to highlight the resilience 
of Community First over the past financial year. 
As a member-owned organisation, we do not pay 
dividends to external shareholders. This has allowed 
the capital and liquidity positions of the credit union 
to remain strong, even amidst some of the most 
unusual business conditions ever encountered. It 
means our members can rest assured that their 
money always remains safe and secure with us.

Our business model is evolving

In a rapidly changing world, we remain relevant to 
the needs of our members through a planned and 
sustainable evolution of our business model. In 
particular, members are opting to use contactless 
payment methods more than at any point in our 
history, and this is driving a switch in preferred 
distribution channels to mobile and internet enabled 
devices. Our commitment to the face-to-face store 
model will continue into the future, albeit with a 
lesser focus on cash.

We are accommodating the changing preferences 
of our members through a variety of distribution 
channels. This includes retail stores stretching 
from Western Sydney, the Central Coast and the 
Northern Beaches through to the Sutherland region. 
January 2020 saw our new store in Cronulla open its 
doors following the relocation of the Kurnell store, 
and in 2019 both our Penrith and Dee Why stores 
benefitted from complete refurbishments to deliver 
fresh new environments for our members.

We continue to invest in innovative technology, 
delivering new ways for members to manage their 
money. Late 2019 saw the launch of our PayWave 
wristband, available to members with a transaction 
account. These waterproof battery-less, silicone 
bands provide greater tap-and-go convenience for 
members wanting to make purchases on the go. 

CEO'S REPORT

John Tancevski 
Chief Executive Officer

Member and owner since 2005
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One million reasons to celebrate

Our community involvement has always set the 
credit union apart, and it is with great pleasure 
that we announce Community First achieved 
an outstanding milestone during the financial 
year. In May 2020 we reached our first $1 million 
in donations to the McGrath Foundation. This 
achievement has been 11 years in the making but 
it has delivered a significant and deeply impactful 
revenue stream for the Foundation, allowing the 
continued support of Breast Care Nurses across 
Australia. 

Importantly, our partnership with the McGrath 
Foundation has seen Community First members 
benefit from a compelling financial product – our 
Low Rate Pink Credit Card, with a rate of just  
8.99% p.a. for purchases and cash advances, 
and half of the low $20 annual fee donated to the 
Foundation.

We have continued our alliances with other 
likeminded community organisations including 
Prostate Cancer Foundation, National Seniors 
Australia, Clubs NSW and Peoplecare. The financial 
year also saw the credit union embark on our 19th 
year of sponsoring the Queenscliff Surf Life Saving 
Club, with a celebration in February of the launch of 
the 2020 Community First-branded lifesaving boat.

Industry recognition for our products

The outstanding value of our products continues to 
be recognised via industry awards. Community First 
celebrated two accolades in Money magazine’s 2020 
Best of the Best Awards, taking out Best Transactor 
Credit Cards - Non Bank, and Best Term Deposit 
Long Term - Non Bank.

In February 2020, Easy Street’s Easy Savings 
Account was awarded Mozo’s Experts Choice Award 
for No Strings Savings, and Community First’s 
Student Starter Account took out the Mozo Experts 
Choice Award for Student Bank Account.

Exploring new horizons

Community First is delighted to have been appointed 
to the panel of lenders participating in the Federal 
Government’s First Home Loan Deposit Scheme 
(FHLDS). The Scheme is designed to help first home 
owners take their first step into the property market 
with a deposit of just 5 per cent and the savings of 
zero lenders mortgage insurance. 

In addition, the credit union is a participating lender 
in the Government's Small and Medium Enterprise 
(SME) Guarantee Scheme. This initiative sees the 
Federal Government guarantee 50 per cent of new 
loans issued by eligible lenders to SMEs, enabling 
small businesses to access additional funding 
to manage the impact of Coronavirus. While the 
Scheme is only available until 30 September 2020, 
Community First has responded with the launch of 
our new First Biz Flexi Loan that allows business 
members to take advantage of the Scheme. 

Thank you

The financial year has seen Community First record 
notable achievements of which we can all be 
proud, and I would like to extend a warm ‘thank 
you’ to all our staff. Your pride in Community First, 
your enthusiasm for growth and change, and your 
commitment to our members drives our continued 
success year after year.

In what has been a disruptive 12 months, I would 
like to thank all our members for your ongoing 
support and trust. At a time when many Australians 
are facing considerable uncertainty, our members 
can rest assured that we continue to put their 
needs at the centre of all our decisions supported 
by a combination of unique products and modern 
services. 

John Tancevski

Chief Executive Officer
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JULY

One of our most popular 
stores located in Nepean 
Village, Penrith, had its 
refurbishment completed with 
a smarter layout and our latest 
concept store styling.

SEPTEMBER

Our Dee Why store receives 
a facelift with a newly 
refurbished store and opening 
celebration.

OCTOBER

We participated in Breast 
Cancer Awareness month 
and pinked up our stores 
in October to help raise 
awareness.

We continue to celebrate our 
60th year of operation, and 
were delighted to showcase 
some of our loyal members 
who have been with us since 
the beginning.

NOVEMBER

Community First launched our 
brand new PayWave wristbands 
– the ideal way to pay when you 
need to travel light.

Community First takes out 2 
awards in the Money magazine 
Best of the Best Awards for 
Best Transactor Credit Cards 
- Non Bank and Best Term 
Deposit Long Term - Non Bank.

DECEMBER

During the financial year, 
26 employees achieved a 
combined total of 320 years 
of experience.

Community First sponsors 
the ‘Pink Connection’ 
luncheon – a support group 
for breast cancer survivors 
who has met every month 
for the past 10 years to 
offer support to each other 
through their good times 
and the bad.
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FEBRUARY

Community First is appointed 
to the panel to help first home 
buyers get access to the First 
Home Loan Deposit Scheme

Embarking on our 19th year 
of sponsoring the Queenscliff 
Surf Life Saving Club, we 
celebrated the launch of the 2020 
Community First branded surf 
lifesaving boat.

Easy Street wins the Mozo 
Experts Choice Award for No 
Strings Savings (Easy Savings 
Account). Community First also 
wins the Mozo Experts Choice 
Award for Student Bank Account 
(Student Starter Account).

MARCH

Community First and the 
Prostate Cancer Foundation 
of Australia unite with launch 
of new credit card.

APRIL

CFCU reaches out to 
members during the 
COVID-19 pandemic with 
options to  support those 
experiencing difficult times.

MAY

Thanks to a new relationship 
with Safe2Pay, we launched 
a new suite of business 
payment products

Reached milestone of the 
first million dollars donated to 
McGrath Foundation.

JUNE

Community First is a 
participating lender in the 
Government's SME Guarantee 
Scheme and launches new 
First Biz Flexi Loan for 
business members to take 
advantage of the Scheme.

JANUARY

Our new store location in 
Cronulla opened its doors 
following the relocation of 
the Kurnell store.
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As a mutual organisation, Community First exists to serve 
its members, and one of our great strengths is the long 
term partnerships we build with our members. As part of 
our 2019 anniversary festivities, we were able to share 
celebrations with those members who have been with us 
since our beginning: We have grown together, and supported 
each other through good times and bad. Above all, we are 
overwhelmingly proud to have forged such productive and 
lasting relationships with our members.

Along with members, we also aim to forge healthy 
relationships with our employees, and in a year of anniversary 
celebrations, we congratulated some of our longest serving 
team members. One staff member has notched up a 35-year 
career history with Community First – quite an achievement! 
Across the organisation, 26 of our employees have a 
combined total of 320 years of experience. This highlights 
that our members can enjoy quality service from employees 
who are experienced and genuinely committed to their credit 
union.

Supporting our members through a pandemic

We were able to proactively demonstrate the value of our 
relationships in the second half of the 2019/2020 financial 
year, which occurred against the backdrop of the COVID-19 
pandemic. It has been an exceptional period in our history, 
and we made it a priority to offer as much support to 
Community First members as possible. Through an early and 
proactive response, we have been able to assist members 
navigate a financial path through an uncertain time.

The COVID-19 pandemic also saw us respond to the 
needs of business members. Community First became 
a participating lender in the Federal Government's SME 
Guarantee Scheme, operational until 30 September 2020. 
This was celebrated by the launch of our new First Biz Flexi 
Loan for business members.

Award-winning products, new ways for members to 
manage money 

The financial year saw Community First receive a number of 
industry accolades that confirm the value of our product suite 
in a competitive market. Community First was honoured to 
be awarded Money magazine’s 2020 Best of the Best Award 
for Best Transactor Credit Card - Non-Bank, and Best Term 
Deposit Long Term - Non-Bank. 

Mozo’s Experts Choice Awards resulted in two awards for us. 
Easy Street’s Easy Savings Account took out the award for 
‘No Strings Savings’, while Community First’s Student Starter 
Account received the award for Student Bank Account.

Community First doesn’t just deliver award-winning products, 
we also explore new technologies that make it easier for our 
members to manage their money. During the financial year, 
we made our new Visa payWave wristbands available – at no 
charge, to members who hold a transaction account with us. 
These lightweight, convenient wristbands make it easier for 
members to make purchases on the go.

We have also welcomed the opportunity to support members 
planning to buy a first home – a significant milestone in the 
lives of all Australians. Community First has been appointed 
to the panel of lenders included in the Federal Government’s 
First Home Loan Deposit Scheme (FHLDS), allowing first 
home buyers to take their first step in the property market 
with a deposit of just 5%, thereby cutting the time needed to 
save for a deposit.

Championing community causes

Communities work best when we provide meaningful support 
to one another, and the financial year saw Community First 
achieve a wonderful milestone – the first $1 million donated 
to the McGrath Foundation.

2019 marked the 60th anniversary of Community First Credit Union – an important 
milestone for our organisation. We celebrated six decades of operation in a variety of ways, 
and as we enter a new decade, the 2019/2020 financial year saw Community First continue 
to achieve important goals by evolving and staying relevant to our members’ needs. 

AN OVERVIEW OF OUR  
PROGRESS DURING  
FINANCIAL YEAR 2019/20
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Risk is an essential part of doing business. Understanding 

and managing the risks – strategic, financial, regulatory, 

reputation and operational, that Community First faces is key 

to the successful governance of the credit union. 

The Board and management team have a robust risk 

framework in place developed in accordance with the 

Australian and New Zealand international standard on risk 

management and regulatory requirements. 

We believe that aligning risk appetite, risk strategy and risk 
culture drives a competitive and sustainable advantage. 
It balances the risk appetite or the preferred level of risk 
Community First is willing to accept in pursuit of its strategic 
objectives, and risk tolerance as the maximum level of risk 
that can be tolerated without risking the ongoing viability of 
the credit union. 

Further information on Community First Credit Union and its 
approach to Risk Management is contained on page 23. 

AN OVERVIEW OF OUR  
PROGRESS DURING  
FINANCIAL YEAR 2019/20

OUR APPROACH TO  
RISK MANAGEMENT

Eleven years ago, Community First made the decision to 
partner with the McGrath Foundation, helping to deliver 
the support of Breast Care Nurses across the national 
community. This is important work, and we are proud that 
our $1 million in donations has been made with the support 
of our members through our Low Rate Pink Credit Card, 
uniquely designed to help Australians battling breast cancer.

The success of our partnership with the McGrath Foundation 
has inspired our latest community-giving initiative. During the 
financial year, we launched our Low Rate Blue Credit Card in 
support of the Prostate Cancer Foundation of Australia. Half 
the annual card fee will be donated to the Foundation each 
year to raise much-needed funds to help reduce the impact 
of prostate cancer, which takes the lives of close to 3,500 
Australian men each year .

Helping members achieve their environmental goals

For much of the 2019/20 financial year, the communities 
that we serve were experiencing one of the most prolonged 
droughts ever recorded on the east coast of Australia. 
Coupled with the bushfire crisis of summer 2019/20, we were 
all reminded of the importance of environmental sustainability. 

Community First is delivering solutions through affordable 
financial products such as our solar and green loans, that 
allow our members to pursue their personal eco-goals. 

Clearly, these goals are becoming more important across 
our community. The financial year saw 100% growth in solar 
loans, which can be used fund household solar panels and 
solar hot water systems. This growth was achieved, in part, 
through our efforts to grow our solar industry contacts. But 
it is backed by our commitment to giving our members the 
benefit of low interest rates on loans that make it possible for 
households to enjoy a quality lifestyle while also minimising 
their eco-footprint – an outcome that ultimately, will benefit 
Australia’s unique environment. 
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Member Experience

Stores

Marketing

Contact Centre

Relationship Managers

Online Channels
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Member Administration
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Company Secretary

Risk Management
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Company officers of the credit union at any time during or since the  
end of the financial year were:

The Leadership Forum is the management committee that meets regularly to discuss 
strategic and operational issues and manage the enterprise risk management framework. 

The Leadership Forum is the principal decision making committee through which all business decisions and policies  
are determined, and its participants include the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), his direct reports, and  
relevant operational business unit managers.

LEADERSHIP FORUM

EXECUTIVE MANAGERS

Member and owner since 2005
B.Comm (Accy), FCPA, MBA GAICD

Chief Executive Officer and Company Secretary

JOHN TANCEVSKI

Member and owner since 2010
MBA, GAICD

Chief Operating Officer 

RICK DORE

Member and owner since 2014
Associate of Institute of Bankers (ACIB UK),  

Member of Securities and Futures Authority (SFA)

Chief Risk Officer

MARTIN BARTER

Member and owner since 1999
B. Commerce (Accounting), FCPA

Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

HUNG TRUONG
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OUR  
MEMBERS

Celebrating 60 years of operation

2019 marked the 60th anniversary of Community 
First, and we were delighted to share the celebrations 
with our members during the year. In particular, we 
showcased the loyalty of a number of our members 
who have been with us since the very beginning – 
testimony to the amazing partnerships we forge with 
our members.

Fresh new store environments

The financial year saw us invest significantly in a 
number of our stores, giving our members bright, 
modern stores in convenient locations.

We opened a new store in Cronulla following the 
relocation of our Kurnell store. Our Dee Why store 
enjoyed a fresh facelift with a full refurbishment 
accompanied by an opening celebration. And one 
of our most popular stores located in Nepean Village 
Penrith, was completely refurbished and restyled in our 
new concept store layout.

Award-winning products

We demonstrate our member-centric approach 
through our range of products that continue to deliver 
value and flexibility to all our members. This value was 
recognised via a number of industry awards throughout 
the year. 

Community First picked up two awards in Money 
magazine’s coveted 2020 Best of the Best Awards. We 
were excited to take out the award for Best Transactor 
Credit Card - Non-Bank, and Best Term Deposit Long 
Term - Non-Bank. 

Easy Street also gathered industry accolades, winning 
Mozo’s Experts Choice Award for No Strings Savings 
(Easy Savings Account). Community First’s Student 
Starter Account was also recognised, winning the 
Mozo Experts Choice Award for Student Bank 
Account.

Reassurance for members during COVID-19

Like many Australians, Community First members have 
experienced challenging conditions as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. We adopted a very proactive 
response, reaching out to our members with offers of 

support. This has helped our members re-organise 
their finances to cope with difficult times, and enjoy 
valuable peace of mind during an uncertain time.

Money management on the go

As we seek new and better ways to serve our 
members, Community First was excited to make 
our new Visa payWave wristbands available to all 
members. 

These silicon waterproof bands require no battery, 
and members can choose from bands featuring either 
CFCU, Easy Street or CFCU/McGrath branding. 
Members who hold a transaction account with us can 
request a wristband at no cost, and they are the ideal 
way to make purchases when members need to travel 
light.

New options for business members

The COVID-19 pandemic has proven challenging for 
many of our business members, and we are providing 
additional support by becoming a participating lender 
in the Federal Government's SME Guarantee Scheme. 

Phase one of this Scheme is operational until  
30 September 2020, and it sees the Government 
guarantee 50 percent of a small business’s loan, 
allowing lenders to provide lower rates of interest on 
business finance. In response, Community First has 
launched our new First Biz Flexi Loan for business 
members to take advantage of the Scheme. Adding 
further support to business members, we forged a new 
relationship with Safe2Pay, launching a new suite of 
business payment products.

Support for first home buyers

Community First is proud to be able to support first 
home buyers through our appointment to the panel 
of lenders included in the Federal Government’s First 
Home Loan Deposit Scheme (FHLDS). The FHLDS 
lets first home owners buy a place of their own with 
a deposit of just 5%. There is no lenders mortgage 
insurance as the remaining 15% is guaranteed by the 
Federal Government. The Scheme can significantly 
cut the time taken to build a deposit, giving first home 
owners an affordable opportunity to get into the 
property market sooner.

As a mutual financial services organisation, Community First puts the 
best interests of our members at the heart of everything we do. The 
financial year has seen us explore new ways to deepen our relationship 
with members, improve our service standards and support even higher 
levels of member satisfaction.
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CFCU MOBILE BANKING 
APP ANDROID USERS

EASY STREET 
WEBSITE USERS

CFCU MOBILE BANKING 
APP iPHONEUSERS

37%60% 31%

Pictured: Ken, member and owner since 1959
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OUR  
COMMUNITY

$1 million donated to the McGrath Foundation

Eleven years ago, Community First joined forces 
with the McGrath Foundation to support the funding 
of Breast Care Nurses across the community. 
In May 2020 we celebrated our first $1 million in 
donations to the McGrath Foundation, providing a 
valuable and significant stream of revenue to this 
exceptional cause. 

It is a wonderful milestone of which our members 
can be proud – we have achieved it together. Our 
Low Rate Pink Credit Card is the only national “pink” 
credit card in Australia specifically designed to make 
a difference to the lives of people diagnosed with 
breast cancer and their families. 

We lent further support to the fight against breast 
cancer by participating in Breast Cancer Awareness 
month. Community First members who visited our 
stores during October 2019 would have noticed 
that we ‘pinked up’ each of our stores to help raise 
community awareness.

In December 2019, we sponsored the ‘Pink 
Connection’ luncheon – a support group for breast 
cancer survivors. The group has met every month 
for the past 10 years, offering camaraderie and 
encouragement to one another through good times 
and bad, and we were delighted to play a role in 
making this event a success.

Supporting the Prostate Cancer Foundation 

The financial year saw Community First partner 
with the Prostate Cancer Foundation of Australia, 
through our new Low Rate Blue Credit Card. It is 
another way we are giving back to the community 
at a time when it has never been more important. 

Prostate cancer is the most diagnosed cancer in 
men in Australia, and alarmingly, Australia has one 
of the highest incidence rates globally, with one 
in every six Australian men likely to be diagnosed 
during their lifetime1. Sadly, prostate cancer takes 
the lives of approximately 3,500 Australian men 
every year. 

Our Low Rate Blue Credit Card will be a vital source 
of much-needed funds, with half the annual card 
fee to be donated to the Foundation every year, 
helping to raise money to reduce the impact of 
prostate cancer on Australian men, their partners 
and families.

Our 2020 lifesaving boat is launched

Since 2001, Community First has enjoyed an 
ongoing relationship with Queenscliff Surf Life 
Saving Club. In February 2020, we celebrated our 
19th year of sponsoring the club with the launch of 
the 2020 Community First branded life-saving boat. 
It was a celebration of sand and surf – enjoyed by all 
who attended in our true spirit of community giving.

Our commitment to the communities in which our members live and 
work is summed up in our name: Community First. Taking an active 
role in the community has always been central to who we are, and this 
financial year saw us achieve remarkable milestones, strengthen existing 
community ties, and forge new alliances.

1 Source: Prostate Cancer Foundation of Australia
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DONATIONS TO THE 
MCGRATH FOUNDATION

SUPPORTING 
COMMUNITY INITIATIVES

$1  
  million

over

61
years
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OUR  
PEOPLE

Combined experience spanning 320 years

Community First has a proud mission to “Help 
members achieve financial goals by building 
relationships for mutual benefit”. In many cases, our 
members form lasting relationships with employees, 
who have been part of our team for many years, 
and we recognise and celebrate our employees’ 
length of service when they reach significant 
milestones. 

During the financial year, 26 employees achieved 
a combined total of 320 years of experience! One 
employee in particular, has been with Community 
First for a remarkable 35 years, and another for over 
three decades. We congratulate six staff members, 
who have been part of our team for 20-plus years, 
and a further six with 10-15 years of experience. 

This exceptional level of staff loyalty, allows 
us to better engage with our customers, and 
demonstrates that the whole Community First team 
supports our shared values.

Navigating COVID-19

The investment we make in staff training truly paid 
off during the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite all the 
challenges, every employee rose to the occasion 
to be there for our members. By helping our team 
adapt to – and leverage – new technology, we can 
be confident that our team has the skills to support 
our members well into the future.

Equal opportunity and diversity 

In a diverse society, Community First maintains 
an inclusive approach to our people: Quite simply, 
every staff member enjoys the same opportunities 
for success. Across our 144-strong team, 70 
percent of our staff are female and women hold 27 
percent of leadership roles.

buiLDing a skilled team

Recognising that our people are integral to our 
success, Community First continues to invest in 
the skills of our employees through our industry-
leading learning and development program – 
buiLD (the ‘LD’ in buiLD stands for ‘Learning and 
Development’). 

An integral part of our training program since 2017, 
buiLD supports our focus on helping members 
achieve their financial goals. We actively identify 
suitable employees, and offer participation in the 
buiLD Program to develop the skills and knowledge 
needed to help our members achieve their financial 
aims.

Feedback from our most recent buiLD graduates 
speaks of the value of the program, with comments 
that included:

As a mutual financial services organisation, Community First puts the 
best interests of our members at the heart of everything we do. The 
financial year has seen us explore new ways to deepen our relationships 
with members, improve our service standards and support even higher 
levels of member satisfaction.

“Everyone who presented to us was passionate 
about member service, and highlighted that 
members are our focus. This makes a big 
difference.”

“Our trainer was amazing and supportive from 
day one. It makes a difference having a trainer 
who is so committed and believes in us.”

“The program is an ideal way to develop us for 
our roles in Community First.”

“The buiLD program exceeded my expectations. 
I loved how the Managers, Executives and the 
CEO took the time to speak with us.”
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V Matthews

Nathan and 
the team at the 

Edgeworth branch 
were amazing.

Community First 
Credit Union has 
been so helpful.

E Powell

GREAT PEOPLE. 
GREAT WORK.

These reviews are testimony to the 
exceptional service provided by our people, 
and the sense of dedication that unites our 

team and delights our members. 

At Community First we are proud 
of our team. Their good work is 

recognised and celebrated across 
the broader community, and we 

would like to share some of the online 
reviews our staff have received  

over the last financial year.

I've been with 
Community First  

Credit Union for over 40 
years and I have always 
had great service from  

these guys.

W Barclay

Sam is very helpful  
with managing my 

home loan and helping 
me to save money and 
time on my home loan.

T Huntley

Pictured: Community First Credit Union buiLD Graduates.
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OUR  
ENVIRONMENT

Giving members affordable access to solar 
power

One of the great strengths of Australia as a nation, 
is that we have access to abundant solar power. 
Our continent has the highest solar radiation per 
square metre of any continent globally2, which gives 
us access to some of the best solar energy in the 
world. Yet solar energy accounts for just 0.1 percent 
of the nation’s total primary energy consumption3. 

Community First is helping to change this while 
also meeting our members’ preferences for ‘green’ 
energy. 

The financial year saw Community First achieve 
significant growth in our Solar Loans. Our 
low rate Solar Loan can help members make 
environmentally-friendly purchases on products 
such as solar panels and hot water systems. 
Unusually, for a personal loan, our Solar Loans are 
available for sums as low as $1,000 with no penalty 
if the loan is paid off early.

The exceptional uptake of our Solar Loans 
demonstrates the scale of demand among our 
members to adopt solar power: And this is not 
just good for the environment. Solar power saves 
money for home owners by generating free 
electricity during daylight hours4. This goes a long 
way to explaining why more than 2.43 million 
rooftop solar power systems have been installed 
Australia-wide as at May 20205.

Loans for a greener world

Our award-winning Green Loan is yet another 
step in allowing our members to make a personal 
contribution to a healthier eco-system. 

A Green Loan can be used to finance the purchase 
of approved environmentally-friendly products such 
as insulation, solar pool heaters, external awnings, 
rainwater tanks, double glazing and grey water 
treatment system as well as energy efficient white 
goods and appliances.

The continued popularity of our Green Loans 
reflects the way that environmental issues are a 
major concern to 77% of Australian households6. By 
offering a low rate product, we allow our members 
to achieve sustainability success in their home – 
a process that can also deliver valuable energy 
savings. This further enhances our commitment to 
supporting the communities that Community First is 
part of.

The financial year has seen a number of events, from bushfires to 
drought, that have reminded all of us of the need to protect our 
environment, and as a nation we are becoming more eco-aware. One 
study identified that Australians are more concerned about the welfare 
of our environment than other issues such as the cost of living or crime1.

1  IPSOS Issues Monitor January 2020https://www.ipsos.com/sites/default/files/ct/news/documents/2020-01/issues_monitor_jan_20_
special_edition_v2.pdf

2  https://www.ga.gov.au/scientific-topics/energy/resources/other-renewable-energy-resources/solar-energy
3  https://www.ga.gov.au/scientific-topics/energy/resources/other-renewable-energy-resources/solar-energy
4  https://www.energy.gov.au/households/solar-pv-and-batteries
5  https://www.energy.gov.au/households/solar-pv-and-batteries
6  https://www.nielsen.com/au/en/insights/article/2019/finding-success-through-sustainability-aus/



21

AVERAGE GREEN LOAN 
AMOUNT

$9,150

FUNDING INCREASE 
FROM 2019

67%

LOANS FOR SOLAR & 
HOME IMPROVEMENTS

60%
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The Corporate Governance Statement should be read in 
conjunction with the Directors’ Report.

Corporate Governance describes the practices and processes 
adopted by an organisation to ensure sound management of the 
organisation within the legal framework under which it operates.

Community First is licensed as an Authorised Deposit-taking 
Institution (ADI) under the Banking Act 1959 (as amended) by the 
Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) who also acts as 
the regulator for Prudential Risk.

Since 1 November 2003, Community First has also operated 
under an Australian Financial Services (AFS) Licence issued by the 
Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) under 
section 913B of the Corporations Act 2001.

Community First is regulated by ASIC for adherence to the 
Corporations Act 2001, for the Australian Equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), for adherence to the National 
Consumer Credit Protection Act (2009) in maintaining fair lending 
practices and for Financial Services Reform (FSR) requirements. The 
general requirements under the FSR legislation are to:

❙  be licensed by ASIC to carry on a financial services business;

❙  comply with AFS licence conditions and financial services laws;

❙  disclose details of Community First’s products and services;

❙  maintain training and appropriate competency levels for all staff 
who deal with members; and

❙  provide an effective and independent complaints handling 
process.

Both ASIC and APRA may conduct periodic inspections of our 
operations and Community First reports to both annually on our 
compliance with their respective requirements. The external auditor 
also reports to both ASIC on AFS Licensee requirements and to 
APRA on Prudential Standards compliance.

Members

The interests of members are paramount in the operation of 
Community First Credit Union Limited. Our members, as owners 
and shareholders, operate Community First through their approval of 
Community First’s Constitution, the democratic election of a Board 
of Directors and the democratic process of General Meetings. The 
Board has responsibility for overseeing the management of the 
affairs of Community First on behalf of our members.

Board of Directors - Role of the Board

The responsibilities of Community First’s Directors arise from statute 
and common law. The most relevant statutes are the Banking Act 
1959 (as amended), the Corporations Act 2001, and the National 
Consumer Credit Protection Act (2009).

The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall Corporate 
Governance of Community First. The Board has a clear view of 
its governance responsibilities and believes it has the necessary 
experience, skills and mix of people to oversee the development 
of the higher standards of corporate integrity and accountability 
required of an ethical organisation. There is a clearly accepted 
division of responsibilities at the head of Community First, which 
ensures an appropriate balance of power and authority.

The Board has delegated responsibility for the operation and 
administration of the Credit Union to the Chief Executive Officer and 
executive management. Responsibilities are delineated by formal 
delegations of authority.

Composition of the Board 

The Board of Directors of Community First Credit Union is 
currently comprised of nine Directors elected by Community First’s 
membership or by the Board through a merger. No members of the 
management team sit on the Board; it is composed entirely of non-
executive Directors. 

A minority of Directors are elected each year in rotation and 
serves a three-year term. There is no limit on the number of terms 
that a person may serve as a Director. Any member, subject 
to qualifications set out in the Constitution, APRA’s prudential 
standards and the Banking Act, is eligible to nominate as a Director.

Nominations for the position of Director, including those from 
elected Directors offering themselves for re-election, are part of the 
election process. A candidate must be nominated by two different 
Community First members, be assessed by the Board Nominations 
Committee, meet the Fit and Proper Persons requirements of 
the Banking Act 1959, and if the number of candidates exceeds 
the number of vacancies, be elected by postal ballot under the 
supervision of an independent Returning Officer. Details of the 
Directors who held office during the financial year are set out on 
page 26 to 30 of this Report.

Board Processes

The Board meets regularly and accepts responsibility for the 
overall governance of Community First, including the formation 
of strategic direction and policy, approval of plans and goals for 
Management and the review of performance against these goals. It 
has also established appropriate structures for the management of 
Community First including an overall framework of internal control, 
risk management and the establishment of ethical standards.

The Board has approved a detailed formal policy for the ongoing 
training and development of Directors. 

General processes for the operation of the Board have been formally 
documented, including:

❙  declaration of conflicts of interest;

❙  checks that are required to satisfy the ‘Fit and Proper Persons’ 
requirements of the Banking Act;

❙  a statement of responsibilities and duties of the Directors; and

❙  the division of responsibility between the Board and the Chief 
Executive Officer.

To increase its effectiveness, the Board has established 
Committees with responsibility for particular areas. The role of each 
Committee, together with the Terms of Reference that set out their 
responsibilities and duties, is documented in a Policy statement 
approved by the Board of Directors. These Committees are:

❙  Board Corporate Governance and Remuneration Committee

❙  Board Audit Committee

❙  Board Risk Committee

❙  Board Nominations Committee

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
STATEMENT
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Board Composition and Review of Performance

The Board has a procedure for the assessment of its performance 
as a whole, the performance of individual Directors and the Chair. 
The assessments are conducted annually, identifying priorities for 
the professional development of Directors and help to improve the 
performance of the Board and individual Directors in the execution 
of their duties and responsibilities.

The Board has established a system to review the skills and 
experience of all Directors to ensure it retains an appropriate mix of 
skills within the composition of the Board.

Board Remuneration

Remuneration of Directors is determined by reference to 
an independent Australia-wide survey of mutual directors’ 
remuneration. Recommendations on remuneration are submitted 
for consideration by members at the Annual General Meeting. In 
addition to the remuneration, Directors are reimbursed for out-of-
pocket expenses incurred in their role. There are no other benefits 
received from Community First. 

The Board Corporate Governance and Remuneration Committee 
performs the review of the Board remuneration.

Management Remuneration

The remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer, Executive 
Management, key Finance and Risk managers and any staff 
required by the prudential standards are reviewed by the Board on 
an annual basis taking into account Community First’s performance 
and current market conditions. Remuneration arrangements for 
other executives and staff are determined by the Chief Executive 
Officer by reference to external advice, Award remuneration levels 
and Community First’s performance. 

Ethical Standards

Any interest in contracts or any other potential or actual conflict 
of interest is declared at each Board meeting where the Director 
becomes aware that a conflict has or may arise. All business 
conducted by Directors in the normal course of their transactions 
with Community First are conducted on terms and conditions that 
apply to any other member. All loans to an individual Director may 
only be approved by a majority of the other Directors. Loans to the 
Chief Executive Officer are handled in a similar manner.

The Board has accepted to be bound by the Ethics and Values 
Principles set down by the Customer Owned Banking Association 
(COBA).

The Board has also agreed to be bound by the Mutual Banking 
Code of Practice and ePayments Code of Conduct which sets 
down principles by which Community First deals with its members 
and keeps them informed of services available, costs and other 
relevant information. As part of these Codes, Community First has 
implemented procedures for resolving complaints with members 
on transactions and refers disputes to an independent arbiter, the 
Financial Services Ombudsman.

Fitness and Propriety

Community First undertakes an annual assessment of all Directors 
and Senior Management to determine their fitness and propriety 
for the roles they are required to fulfil. This assessment must at 
least meet the requirements of APRA’s Prudential Standard for Fit 
and Proper persons, and ensures that there are no persons in a 

responsible position who have been disqualified from acting in such 
a role.

Risk Management

Community First’s risk assessment process has been developed 
in accordance with the Prudential Standards and the Corporations 
Act.

The process assists the Board and senior management to identify 
and understand significant risks faced by Community First.

Risk assessment, internal controls and internal audit play an 
important role in Community First’s corporate governance, 
assurance and compliance framework.

Compliance

Community First’s compliance process has been developed in 
accordance with Australian regulatory guidance. The process assists 
the Board to ensure that we remain aware of changes in legislation, 
codes and comply with the Prudential Standards.

Specific change in legislation which were considered during the 
Financial Year 2020 include:

❙  Open Banking and Consumer Data Right

❙  Design and Distribution Obligations

❙  Prudential Standard CPS 234 Information Security

❙  Revision to the capital framework of authorised deposit taking 
institutions

❙  APRA’s regulatory approach to COVID-19 support packages

Employee Wellbeing

Community First has a well established Work Health and Safety 
(WHS) Committee, and committee members are appointed by their 
peers to represent all employees in the organisation. This provides 
Community First with the forum to consult with staff on WHS 
activities and issues should they arise. Committee members are 
accredited in WHS consultation and their contribution to WHS is 
attributable to the low level of incidents in our workplace. 

We value the wellbeing of our employees and have initiated new 
safety programs to further enhance the health and safety of 
employees throughout the year. This includes training for first aid, 
robbery safety awareness, flu precaution actions and employee 
assistance programs.

At Community First, we recognise that a strong and positive culture 
is achieved through shared values and beliefs. Importantly, attracting 
and retaining talented people who support our values is a key 
initiative of our organisation.

Community First’s flexible and diverse workforce consists of 144 
full time, part time and casual staff across our Store network, head 
and regional offices and we firmly believe our staff represent the 
communities in which we serve. 

With a workforce participation of 70% female, our workplace 
encourages participation at all levels. Of our leadership positions, 
27% are female and we currently support over 78% staff in part 
time employment and flexible working options (including working 
from home and flexible working hours). This has increased due 
to COVID-19 with more people having the capacity to work from 
home. 
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We actively seek people from all walks of life to ensure a balanced 
and diverse workforce and to promote a workplace environment 
which fosters ideas and new ways of doing things. 

Community First is proud to be compliant with the requirements of 
the Workplace Gender Equality Act 2012.

Board Committees

Board Corporate Governance and Remuneration Committee

This is a committee comprised of the Board’s Chair and four other 
Directors and the Chief Executive Officer. 

Its major activities are: 

❙  monitoring corporate governance development and 
bringing to the Board’s attention matters of importance and 
recommendations for improvement;

❙  reviewing the guidelines for Directors, and monitoring compliance;

❙  recommending policies and guidelines for the process of 
disclosure of information from the Board to shareholders;

❙  facilitating effective communication between the Board and 
Management;

❙  co-ordinating Community First's strategic planning process;

❙  co-ordinating the appraisal of Board skills mix, performance 
review and the Director education program;

❙  developing Executive Management and Director succession 
plans; and

❙  reviewing Board remuneration and recommendation to the Annual 
General Meeting.

The members of the Committee during the year were:

Chair   Members 
S. Nugent   J. Johnson 

S. Lowndes 
R. Scopelliti  
G. Thomson 
J. Tancevski

A sub-committee of the Committee, titled the Remuneration 
Committee, reviews the performance and remuneration package of 
the Chief Executive Officer and other selected managers as required 
by the prudential standards. The Chief Executive Officer is not a 
member of this sub-committee.

Board Audit Committee

The Board Audit Committee is established to oversee the financial 
affairs of Community First and its controlled entities. It also considers 
matters concerning the internal and external audits. Broadly, the 
Committee assists the Board by: 

❙  overseeing financial reporting including the integrity of financial 
statements and the independent audit thereof;

❙  overseeing the audit process including engagement of the 
External and Internal Auditors for both corporate and prudential 
regulation purposes;

❙  overseeing the coordination of the external and internal audit 
functions;

❙  performing the role required under the Prudential Standards of 
participating in the tripartite arrangements between the Australian 
Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA), Community First and our 
External and Internal Auditors;

❙  acting as a Committee to assist the Board in discharging the 
Board’s responsibilities;

❙  supervising special investigations requested by the Board; and

❙  considering the results of assurance activities within the 3-lines of 
defence model contained in the prudential standard.

The Committee is comprised of up to four Directors, none of whom 
is the Chair of the Board.

The members of the Committee during the year were:

Chair   Members 
K. Pickering  N. Kelly 

S. Korchinski  
B. Rankine
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Board Risk Committee

The Board Risk Committee is established to oversee the 
establishment, implementation, and annual review of Community 
First and its controlled entities Risk Management System. The focus 
of the Board Risk Committee is to monitor the organisations Risk 
Management Framework and provide oversight of the enterprise 
wide risk management systems. This includes the evaluation of the 
effectiveness of internal controls and policies. 

Broadly, the Committee assists the Board of Directors to effectively 
discharge its responsibilities within the context of the Board 
determined risk appetite, consider the treatment of material risk by: 

❙  overseeing the risk management strategy and framework of 
Community First;

❙  making recommendations to the Board concerning the risk 
appetite statement and tolerance limits

❙  monitoring risk management practices;

❙  reviewing management’s plans for mitigation of material risks;

❙  promotion of a risk based culture; 

❙  achieving a balance of risk and reward;

❙  monitoring Community First’s compliance with relevant Board 
policies, prudential and statutory requirements;

❙  acting as a Committee to assist the Board in discharging the 
Board’s responsibilities; 

❙  supervising special investigations requested by the Board;

❙  monitoring the three year rolling business plan for consideration in 
strategy discussions and annual budgets;

❙  overseeing the annual risk management attestation for the 
regulator and

❙  considering the results of assurance activities within the three 
lines of defence model contained in the prudential standard.

The Board Audit Committee also undertakes an annual review of 
the performance of the internal auditors and external auditors whilst 
the Board Risk Committee reviews the performance of the Risk 
Management section to identify any opportunities for improved 
performance and more effective oversight.

The Board Risk Committee is comprised of up to four Directors, 
none of whom is the Chair of the Board.

The members of the Committee during the year were:

Chair   Members 
K. Pickering  N. Kelly 

S. Korchinski 
B. Rankine

Board Nominations Committee

This Committee comprises one external independent Chair, 
one member of Community First and one Director. The Director 
representative cannot be a person standing for election or be a 
person nominating or seconding a person for election.

The role of this Committee is to review checks relative to ‘Fit and 
Proper’ tests and to interview persons who have been nominated 
for election as a Director, to establish the suitability and qualifications 
of the person.

The Committee then expresses an opinion in the material 
accompanying ballot papers as to whether the Committee 
considers the nominee has demonstrated his/her ability to meet 
the requirements to be a Director of Community First Credit Union 
Limited.

The members of the Committee during the year were:

Chair   Members 
P. Johnson  A. Deacon 

S. Nugent
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Directors

The Directors of the Credit Union at any time during or since the end of the financial year are: 

The Directors present their report together with 
the financial report of Community First Credit 
Union Limited (“Community First” or "the Credit 
Union"), and of the Consolidated Entity, being 
the Credit Union and its controlled entities, for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2020 and the 
auditor's report thereon.

Mr Nugent joined the Board as a Director 
in May 2002. Stephen has more than 
30 years experience in the finance and 
insurance industries and was formally the 
Chief Customer Officer for The Hospital 
Contributions Fund of Australia Limited 
(HCF). Stephen is also a Director of the 
Customer Owned Banking Association.

Stephen brings to the Board a wide 
range of experience in project and 
operations management, process 
improvement, sales, marketing, customer 
service, financial management, retirement 
and aged care, strategic planning and 
compliance. 

Chair of Directors 

Chair of Corporate Governance and 
Remuneration Committee

Member and owner since 2002
B Bus. (Marketing), Grad Cert Internet Mkt., 

AFAMI, AMP (Harvard)

STEPHEN NUGENT
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In 2019 Jacki retired from her Group 
Executive role with Insurance Australia 
Group and is now an advisor to the 
Group on Climate, Sustainability and 
Resilience. In this capacity she holds 
the roles of Co Chair United Nations 
Environment Financial Initiative, Co Chair 
Australia Sustainable Finance Initiative 
and Steerco member Resilient Sydney.

Jacki has now commenced her Phd 
candidature at University of Wollongong.

She is also a member of Chief Executive 
Women. From 2010 to 2016 Jacki was 
Chief Executive for IAG’s New Zealand 
business. 

Former roles include President of the 
Insurance Council of New Zealand, 
Chair of the Christchurch Recovery Chief 
Executives' meeting, and Executive 
Director IAG NZ. 

Jacki was recognised by the NZ Herald 
in December 2015 as NZ Executive of 
the Year. She is a former Non Executive 
Director of the New South Wales 
WorkCover Authority and the Personal 
Injury Education Foundation.

Member of Corporate Governance 
and Remuneration Committee

Member and owner since 2005
BAppSc (OT), EMBA (AGSM), GradDip Safety 

Science, FAICD

JACKI JOHNSON

Ms Kelly joined the Board as an 
Associate Director in May 2002 and 
was elected to the Board in 2003. Nuria 
has more than 20 years experience in 
financial planning and management, with 
qualifications from the Securities Institute 
of Australia and an Associate Diploma in 
Accounting and a Diploma of Law. Nuria 
has retired as principal of a Financial 
Planning and Stockbroking Practice with 
Bridges Financial Services (IOOF) and 
brings to the Board her experience of 
working closely with Community First 
members through her financial planning 
and stockbroking role. Nuria was also 
previously Head of Financial Services 
Sydney with RSM Australia (RSM Bird 
Cameron). 

Recently she has been working as a 
Governance and Risk Management 
Consultant, assignments have included 
senior manager executive positions such 
as Head of Legal and Compliance for 
financial services firms. 

Ms Kelly is also a Director of Foot of the 
Mountains Pty Ltd which owns retail 
businesses in the Blue Mountains to 
December 2019. 

Member of Board Audit and Board 
Risk Committees

Member and owner since 1989
Assoc Dip Accounting, Cert Financial Markets 
(SIA), Dip Law, Solicitor & Barristers Admission 

Board, MAMI.

NURIA KELLY

Mr Korchinski was appointed to 
the Board in June 2004 to fill a 
casual vacancy. Stuart has spent 
the last 32 years in the accounting 
profession and the general insurance, 
superannuation, wealth management 
and related technology industries in 
a variety of leadership roles. He is a 
Chartered Accountant and former 
Managing Director of ASX-listed Diversa 
Limited, CitiStreet Australia, Telstra’s 
KAZ Business Services, Australian 
Administration Services and Chief 
General Manager of Allianz’s personal 
insurance business.

He is also a former non-executive director 
of Enhanced Payment Technologies, 
Thai Administration Services Co. Ltd 
and financial advice company, Money 
Solutions. 

Stuart is currently an Executive Director 
and CEO of SuperChoice Services 
Pty Ltd, a specialist superannuation 
technology company, Chairman of 
Datacenter Limited and Director of 
PayClear Services Pty Ltd and VServ 
Federation Ltd.

Member of Board Audit and Board 
Risk Committees

Member and owner since 2004
B. Comm (Honours), CPA, CA, MAMI

STUART KORCHINSKI
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Mr Pickering has been a Director since 
1972 serving as Chair between 1984 
and 1992 and Vice Chair between 1982 
and 2009. Ken has had a close affinity 
with the broader Credit Union movement 
through his service on CUSCAL’s National 
Membership Council between 1990 and 
2000, as CEO Australasian Institute of 
Credit Union Directors between 1995 and 
2005 and Executive Manager Professional 
Development for Australasian Mutuals 
Institute between 2006 and 2015. 

Prior to this, Ken had 25 years’ experience 
at Sydney Water, including a number of 
executive management positions relating 
to the change management program 
launched from 1983. Between 1993 and 
2018 he was been engaged in the provision 
of business management and consultancy 
services in both the customer owned 
banking industry and small business along 
with some property development projects.

Between December 2014 and July 2018 
Ken served as Learning & Development 
Consultant for the Institute of Strategic 
Management and on the Advisory Board 
for that Institute. He is currently a Trustee of 
two self-managed superannuation funds.

He is a Graduate of the Diploma Course, 
has been a Fellow of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors for 26 years and in 
2016 was admitted as an Associate of the 
Australian Risk Policy Institute.

Chair of Board Audit and Board Risk 
Committees

Member and owner since 1968
Dip Fin Serv, Ass. Dip. Bus. Mgt., FAICD Dip, 

AARPI, FAMI, AIMM.

KENNETH PICKERING

Mr Lowndes was appointed to a casual 
vacancy on the Board in March 2001 
and elected as Chair from July 2008 to 
November 2015. Stephen has 30 years 
experience in data analysis, systems 
development, policy formulation, strategic 
planning, executive management and 
industry representation, gained in the 
Commonwealth Public Service, Private 
Health Insurance, Aged Care and Health 
industries. Stephen has served on the 
Boards of the Australian Friendly Society 
Association, the Australian Health 
Services Alliance and the Australian 
Health Insurance Association, and a 
number of not-for-profit community 
services organisations.

Stephen was formerly a member of 
the Management Board of Manchester 
Unity Credit Union, Chief Executive of 
Manchester Unity Australia Ltd, CEO 
of the Aged and Community Services 
Association of NSW and ACT, a peak 
industry association representing not-
for-profit aged care providers and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Royal Rehab, a 
not-for-profit specialist rehabilitation and 
disability hospital. He is currently the CEO 
of the Men of League Foundation.

Member of Corporate Governance 
and Remuneration Committee

Member and owner since 1999
B. Rur. Sc. (Hons) UNE, MAMI

STEPHEN LOWNDES

Mr. Rankine joined the Board of 
Community First Credit Union as a Non-
Executive Director in June 2018. He was 
a Director of Cape Credit Union for over 
12 years and the Board Chair for over 9 
years. 

Bill was an employee of Caltex Australia 
for over 30 years. He held executive 
positions in marketing, sales, risk 
management and administration. He has 
extensive experience and knowledge in 
many aspects of business management, 
including, risk management, marketing 
and sales management, credit risk 
management, corporate governance and 
compliance. Bill currently serves on the 
committees of the local Beecroft Probus 
group and the Beecroft Cheltenham Civic 
Trust.

Member of the Board Audit and 
Board Risk Committees 

Member and owner since 1978

MBA, Grad. Dip. Bus., Dip. Corp. Mgmt., 
Cert. Acctg.

WILLIAM RANKINE
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Directors

The Directors of the Credit Union at any time during or since the end of the financial year are: 
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Mr Thomson joined the Board of 
Community First Credit Union as a Non-
Executive Director in December 2016. 
He was previously a Director and Chair of 
Manly Warringah Credit Union Ltd since 
2006. 

Gary has a broad range of experience 
in strategic planning, risk management, 
executive management and 
governmental relations.

Gary retired in July 2018 but was 
previously employed as a Project 
Manager at Singleton Council from 
2017 to 2018. From 2010 to June 2017 
he was Assistant General Manager 
at Singleton Council following three 
years working as a consultant in the 
areas of town planning and business 
reorganisation particularly related to 
waste management. Prior to this he 
worked for Warringah Council for 28 
years where his final role was as Director 
of Customer and Community Services. 

 He has extensive Board experience 
having previously been a member of the 
Glen Street Theatre Board of Directors 
and Hunter Resource Recovery Board 
of Directors. He is currently a Director of 
Balmain Rugby League Football Club and 
Balmain District Junior Rugby League 
Club.

Member of Corporate Governance 
and Remuneration Committee

Member and owner since 1979

Grad. Dip. LG.Man, Dip. Govt., MLGMA, 
MPIA

GARY THOMSON

Mr Scopelliti joined the Board as a Non 
Executive Director in March 2013. Rocky 
is the Director – Centre for Industry 4.0 at 
Optus where he leads the creation of world 
class thought-leadership and innovation to 
advise enterprises on the Fourth Industrial 
Revolution. He is also a member of the 
REST Super Technology Advisory Panel 
and member of the Australian Payments 
Council. 

A distinguished Futurologist, author and 
international key note speaker, Rocky has 
contributed to the World Economic Forum’s 
Disruptive Innovation in Financial Services 
Program, delivered key note addresses at 
events such as Mobile World Congress and 
published 12 thought leadership research 
reports on digital disruption that have 
become internationally recognised.

Rocky has more than 20 years' senior 
management experience in the information 
technology and financial services 
sectors with Telstra Corporation and the 
Commonwealth Bank of Australia covering 
product development, strategy, business 
development, marketing and research. 

Educated in Australia and trained in the 
United States, at Sydney University and 
Stanford University, Rocky has a Graduate 
Diploma in Corporate Management and a 
Masters in Business Administration. He is 
also graduate and member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.

Member of Corporate Governance 
and Remuneration Committee

Member and owner since 2013

Grad.Dip.Corp.Man, MBA, GAICD, MAMI

ROCKY SCOPELLITI
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Directors’ Meetings

The number of Directors' Meetings (including meetings of committees of Directors) and number of meetings attended by each of the Directors 
of the Credit Union during the financial year are outlined in the table below:

Name Status
Board 
Meetings

Corporate 
Governance & 
Remuneration 
Committee 
Meetings

Board Audit 
Committee 
Meetings

Board Risk 
Committee 
Meetings

Board 
Planning 
Meetings

a b a b a b a b a b

Mr Stephen Nugent Non-Executive 7 8 4 4 - - - - 1 1

Ms Jacki Johnson Non-Executive 7 8 4 4 - - - - 1 1

Ms Nuria Kelly Non-Executive 8 8 - - 4 4 4 4 1 1

Mr Stuart Korchinski Non-Executive 7 8 - - 3 4 3 4 1 1

Mr Stephen Lowndes Non-Executive 8 8 4 4 - - - - 1 1

Mr Kenneth Pickering Non-Executive 8 8 - - 4 4 4 4 1 1

Mr Bill Rankine Non-Executive 7 8 - - 4 4 4 4 1 1

Mr Rocky Scopelliti Non-Executive 5 8 2 4 - - - - 1 1

Mr Gary Thomson Non-Executive 8 8 4 4 - - - - 1 1

The Nominations Committee held one meeting during the financial year. The meeting was attended by Paul Johnson, Angela Deacon and 
Stephen Nugent.

a – Number of meetings attended. 
b - Number of meetings that the Director was eligible to attend. Leave of absence was granted for meetings unable to be attended.

Directors’ Interests

Each Director holds one redeemable preference share (member share) in the Credit Union held in their capacity as a member.

Financial accommodation to Directors complies with the Corporations Act and was made on terms and conditions available to all members 
generally. Details are set out in the Notes to the Financial Statements in accordance with applicable Accounting Standards.

During and since the end of the year under review, no Director has received, or become entitled to receive, a benefit except a benefit of the 
type included in the aggregate amount of Directors’ remuneration shown in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Credit Union during the year were the provision of retail financial accommodation and associated services to 
members.

There were no significant changes in these principal activities during the year.

Operating Results

The net profit after income tax for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 was $1.078m (2019: $1. 203m). The net interest income remained on 
par at $24m with the net interest margin decreased 11 basis points to 2.15% from the previous year. Non-interest income increased by $115k 
with loan and advances impairment losses increased by $180k. The total operating expenses increased by $182k.

Review of Operations

Total assets on balance sheet as at year end were $1.138bn representing an increase of $41m from the previous year. The loans portfolio 
decreased by $33.4m or 3.8%. Total deposits grew by $11.5m for the year. 

Dividends and Franking Credits

The Credit Union's Constitution is based on the principles of mutuality and prevents the payment of dividends to members.

State of Affairs

COVID-19 Impacts on Community First

COVID-19 has impacted Community First’s operations, many of Community First’s members, counterparties and third parties suppliers, as well 
as the broader economy.

In response to COVID-19, the Federal Government has legislated a number economic stimulus measures for individuals, businesses and the 
banking sector to support Australia through the unprecedented societal and economic impact of the pandemic. 

Community First and its members have received support from some of these programs including:

❙  Participating in the Government's Small and Medium Enterprise (SME) Guarantee Scheme. This initiative sees the Federal Government 
guarantee 50 per cent of new loans issued by eligible lenders to SMEs, enabling small businesses to access additional funding to manage 
the impact of Coronavirus.
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❙  Access to the Reserve Bank Term Funding Facility (TFF). Under the TFF, the Reserve Bank offered three-year funding to authorised deposit-

taking institutions (ADIs) through repurchase transactions at a fixed rate of 25 basis points per annum.

❙  Cash flow boost to employers of between $20,000 and $100,000. Community First has received $50,000 through this measure.

In order to mitigate the spread of the pandemic, the Federal, State and Territory Governments have implemented a range of material 
restrictions on businesses, venues, travel, movement and gatherings of people. Many of these measures have impacted the operations of 
Community First, including the closure of Thursday night and Saturday morning trading at selected locations.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, Community First has provided support to its members by implementing a range of initiatives, including 
the granting of three months loan repayment deferrals and interest only payment options to members impacted by COVID-19. 

Assistance was also extended to Community First’s tenants occupying the Auburn building by providing rental concessions.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, Community First enacted its Pandemic Plan as part of the overall Business Continuity Plan. Some of 
the measures put in place includes:

❙  Front-office staff on-site in shopping centres with social distancing measures being enforced. Additional physical barriers are also being 
implemented as extra precautions. 

❙  Back-office staff are working from home with each department establishing its own on-site and off-site rosters. Regular touch points with 
their Manager have also been scheduled. 

❙  The Contact Centre team has been split to manage any potential for the spread of any contagion

There are other government economic stimulus programs such as the $130 billion Job Keeper payment announced on 30 March 2020, which 
has not been taken up by the Credit Union.

As the government has declared Banking as an essential service, Community First has remained open throughout the locked down period. All 
staff were retained during this difficult period.

Environmental Regulation

The Credit Union's operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulation under either Commonwealth or State legislation. The 
Board believes that the Credit Union has adequate systems in place for the management of its environmental requirements and is not aware 
of any breach of those environmental requirements as they apply to the organisation. However, the credit union is committed to helping create 
better and more sustainable communities, and has launched a number of products to promote environmentally sustainable initiatives by 
consumers through the use of low interest “Green” personal loans.

Events Subsequent to Reporting Date

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report, any item, transaction or event of a material 
and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of the Credit Union, to affect significantly the operations of the Credit Union, the results 
of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Credit Union, in future financial years.

Likely Developments

The Credit Union expects the COVID-19 pandemic to have some impact on the financial performance of the credit union through a lower 
market demand for credit or affordability challenges for consumers wishing to borrow, among other potentially adverse effects. At this time, 
however, it is not possible to estimate how long it will take to control the spread of the virus or the longer term effects the COVID-19 pandemic 
could have on the economy and Community First’s business. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic impacts Community First’s 
members, business, financial performance and financial condition will depend on future developments which are evolving and highly uncertain.  

The significant decrease in economic activity resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic has affected, and will continue to affect,  demand for 
Community First’s products and services. The Credit Union expects the COVID-19 pandemic will result in increased impairments, defaults and 
write-offs as some members face challenges in meeting their repayments or have uncertainty in maintaining continuing employment. While 
current levels of impairment provision appears adequate at this point in time, the full impact of the pandemic is highly uncertain. However, 
Community First is well capitalised and holds liquidity in excess of prudential minimum. 

Regulatory Developments

Due to the current COVID-19 pandemic crisis both ASIC and APRA have re-calibrated their regulatory priorities with a number of scheduled 
regulatory implementation being deferred. 

Some of the proposed changes that have been deferred includes:

❙  New Financial Accountability Regime (FAR) to replace Banking Executive Accountability Regime (BEAR).

❙  Design and Distribution Obligations

❙  Open Banking and Consumer Data Right 

❙  APRA revisions to ADI capital framework

❙  Revised APS 220 Credit Risk Management

The Credit Union will continue to pursue its mission of helping members to achieve their financial goals by building relationships for mutual 
benefit. It will also strive to seek growth in all areas of the operation.

Indemnification and Insurance of Officers and Auditors

During the year, a premium was paid in respect of a contract insuring Directors and Officers of the Credit Union against all liabilities to other 
persons (other than the Credit Union or a related body corporate) that may arise from their positions as Directors and Officers of the Credit 
Union except where the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith. The Officers of the Credit Union covered by the insurance 
contract include the Directors, Executive Officers, Company Secretaries and other relevant employees.

In accordance with normal commercial practice, disclosure of the total amount of premium payable under, and the nature of liabilities covered 
by, the insurance contract is prohibited by a confidentiality clause in the contract.

No insurance cover has been provided for the benefit of the auditors of the Credit Union.
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Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration

The Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration is set out on page 87 and forms part of the directors’ report for the financial year ended 30 June 
2020.

Rounding

The amounts contained in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand in accordance with ASIC Corporations 
(Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191. The Credit Union is permitted to round to the nearest thousand ($’000) for all 
amounts except prescribed disclosure that are shown in whole dollars.

Public Prudential Disclosures

As an Approved Deposit-taking Institution (“ADI”) regulated by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (“APRA”), the Credit Union is 
required to publicly disclose certain information in respect of:

❙  Equity and regulatory capital,

❙  Risk exposure and assessment, and

❙  Remuneration disclosures.

These disclosures are to be found on the Credit Union’s website;  www.communityfirst.com.au/support/important-information/prudential-
disclosures

Acknowledgments

On behalf of the Directors, please allow us to thank everyone who has contributed to our success this year: our members, staff, 
representatives and business partners.

Dated at Sydney, NSW this 27th day of August 2020

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Mr Stephen Nugent    Mr Kenneth Pickering 
Chair       Chair of the Board Audit and Risk Committees
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS  
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Note

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

Interest income 5 36,369 39,616

Interest expense 5 (12,327) (15,557)

Net interest income 5 24,042 24,059

Impairment losses on loans and advances 6 (580) (400)

Non-interest income 7 6,724 6,609

Other expenses 8 (29,017) (28,835)

Profit before income tax 1,169 1,433

Income tax expense 9 (91) (230)

Profit for the year 1,078 1,203

Other comprehensive income

Unrealised revaluations net of tax:

Financial assets at FVOCI gains/(losses) during the year 11 292

Total amount recognised directly in equity 11 292

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,089 1,495

Attributable to :

Members of the Credit Union 1,089 1,495

The Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements 
commencing on page 37.
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 Note
Capital 

$’000

Retained 
Earnings 

$’000

Business 
Combination 

Reserve 
$’000

Credit  
Loss 

Reserve 
$’000

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Consolidated and Credit Union

Opening balance at 1 July 2018 451 69,407 12,002 2,452 4,531 88,843

Change on initial application of AASB 9 28 - 2,472 - - - 2,472

Restated balance at 1 July 2018 451 71,879 12,002 2,452 4,531 91,315

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year - 1,203 - - - 1,203

Other comprehensive income 27 - - - - 292 292

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment - - - - - -

Transfer of share redemption 11 (11) - - - -

Closing balance at 30 June 2019 462 73,071 12,002 2,452 4,823 92,810

Opening balance at 30 June 2019 462 73,071 12,002 2,452 4,823 92,810

Change on initial application of AASB 16 (net 
of tax)

3.2 & 
28

- (118) - - - (118)

Restated balance at 1 July 2019 462 72,953 12,002 2,452 4,823 92,692

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year - 1,078 - - - 1,078

Other comprehensive income 27 - - - - 11 11

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 17 - - - - 2,306 2,306

Transfer of share redemption 8 (8) - - - -

Closing balance at 30 June 2020 470 74,023 12,002 2,452 7,140 96,087

The Statements of Changes in Members’ Equity should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements commencing on 
page 37.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS' 
EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
AS AT 30 JUNE 2020

Note

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

ASSETS
Cash assets 10 5,595 11,931

Receivables due from other financial institutions 11 259,758 182,482

Loans and advances 12 843,415 876,834

Financial assets at FVOCI 14 9,472 9,332

Intangible assets 15 715 809

Accrued receivables 16 1,696 3,710

Property, plant and equipment 17 15,534 12,400

Right of use assets 18 1,704 -

Total Assets 1,137,889 1,097,498

LIABILITIES
Deposits 19 1,006,146 994,652

Payables 20 5,069 6,264

Lease Liabilities 21 1,889 -

Interest Bearing Liabilities 22 24,000 -

Deferred tax liability 24 1,100 392

Provisions 25 3,598 3,380

Total Liabilities 1,041,802 1,004,688

Net Assets  96,087 92,810

MEMBERS' EQUITY
Redeemable preference shares capital account 26 470 462

Reserves 27 21,594 19,277

Retained earnings 28 74,023 73,071

Total Members' Equity  96,087 92,810

The Statements of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements commencing on page 37.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE  
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Note

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Interest received 36,692 40,199

Dividend received 787 468

Non-interest income received 6,283 5,773

Interest paid (13,398) (15,876)

Payments to suppliers and employees (26,063) (24,546)

Income tax (paid) 470 (506)

Net Increase in deposits 11,494 28,581

Net decrease / (increase) in members' loans 32,839 (65,282)

Net cash provided by operating activities 29 (b) 49,104 (31,189)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 16 169

Net (increase) / decrease in investments (77,415) 41,928

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (831) (1,322)

Purchase of Intangible Assets (372) (515)

Net cash used in investing activities  (78,602) 40,260

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payment of lease liabilitiesa (838) -

Proceeds/(repayments) from borrowings 24,000 (660)

Net cash used in investing activities  23,162 (660)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (6,336) 8,411

Cash at beginning of the financial year 11,931 3,520

Cash at the end of the financial year 29 (a) 5,595 11,931

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements commencing on page 37.

a The Consolidated Entity under AASB 16 from 1st July 2019 the principal portion of lease payments within financing activities and the interest 
portion within operating activities.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. REPORTING ENTITY

Community First Credit Union Limited (the ‘Credit Union’) is a company domiciled in Australia. The financial statements for the year ended 
30 June 2020 comprise the Credit Union and its controlled entities (together referred to as the “Consolidated Entity”). The address of the 
Credit Union’s registered office is Level 2, 67-73 St Hilliers Road, Auburn. The Credit Union is a for-profit entity and primarily involved in 
the provision of financial products, services and associated activities to members. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of Compliance

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The 
financial statements of the Consolidated Entity and the Credit Union comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

This is the first set of the annual financial statements of the Consolidated Entity and the Credit Union in which AASB 16 Leases have 
been applied. Changes to significant accounting policies are described in note 3.2. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27th of August 2020. 

The accounting policies set out below, other than those described in Note 3.2, have been applied consistently to all periods 
presented in these financial statements and have been applied consistently by the Consolidated Entity and the Credit Union.

(b) Basis of Measurement

The financial statements of the Consolidated Entity and the Credit Union have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for the 
following material items:  financial assets at FVOCI (Note 14), and land and buildings as indicated in (Note 17). Loans and advances, 
receivables due from other financial institutions and financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost.

(c) Use of Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AASBs requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions based on experience and other factors, including expectation of future events that affect the application of accounting 
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements is included in the following notes:

❙ Note 3 – Measurement of expected credit losses

❙ Note 4 – Credit Risk of financial assets

❙ Note 13 – Impairment of Loans and Advances

❙ Note 14 – Financial assets at FVOCI

❙ Note 17 – Land and buildings

❙ Note 32 – Contingent liabilities

COVID –19 impact on key estimates and judgements

The unfolding implications since March 2020, from the declaration of COVID-19 as a world-wide pandemic by the World Health 
Organisation, has been unprecedented. The impact and duration of COVID-19 on the global and domestic economy and the 
interplay of how governments, business and consumers respond is uncertain. The Consolidated Entity has considered the COVID-19 
pandemic implications with regard to the evolving and uncertain elements in the preparation of the financial statements. 

While the specific areas of judgement as noted above  did not change, the impact of COVID-19 resulted in the application of further 
estimates and judgement within these identified areas.
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The COVID-19 pandemic has increased the estimation uncertainty in these financial statements. The estimation uncertainty is 
associated with:

❙  The extent and duration of the disruption to the economy, business, consumers and government;

❙  Success of virus suppression in NSW;

❙  The expected economic downturn and key economic factors such as GDP, unemployment and house prices;

❙  The continuation, effectiveness and extent of domestic federal and state authorities to assist and /or facilitate business and 
individuals through the crisis.

The Consolidated Entity has included various accounting estimates in the financial statements based on forecasts of economic 
conditions and future events which reflect expectations and assumptions as at 30 June 2020. 

There is a considerable degree of judgement required in preparing forecasts. The underlying assumptions are also subject to 
uncertainties and beyond the control of individual entities. The actual economic outcomes are likely to differ from the forecast as 
the anticipated events and interaction will not always occur as expected. The effect of these differences may significantly impact 
accounting estimates included in the financial statements. 

The significant accounting estimates impacted by these forecasts and associated uncertainties are predominately related to 
measurement of expected credit losses, fair value measurement of financial assets and recoverable amount assessments of assets. 

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is further discussed in the relevant note below. The reader should carefully consider the 
financial statements with regards to the inherent uncertainty highlighted above.

(d) Rounding and Presentation Currency

The Consolidated Entity and Credit Union have applied the relief available to it under ASIC corporations (Rounding in Financial/
Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191 and accordingly, amounts in the financial statements and Directors’ Report is presented in 
Australian dollars and all values are rounded off to the nearest A$1,000, or in certain cases, the nearest Australian dollar.

3. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Consolidated Entity and the Credit Union have consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these 
financial statements.

3.1 Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of Consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Credit Union. The Credit Union controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights 
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which 
control commences until the date on which control ceases.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated. 

The consolidated financial statements include those of the Credit Union and a Special Purpose Entity (the easystreet Trust No. 
1 securitisation trust) which relates to the issuance of residential mortgaged-backed securities (RMBS). RMBS are issued by 
the securitisation trust and held by the Credit Union for entering into a potential repurchase agreement with the Reserve Bank 
of Australia for short term funding requirements. The securitisation trust is consolidated, as the Credit Union has the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Since the Credit Union has not transferred 
all the risks and rewards to the special purpose entity, the assigned loans are retained on the books of the Credit Union and 
are not de-recognised. The securitisation trust’s underlying assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash flows are reported 
in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss and Other Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial Position, Statement 
of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows. All inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated on 
consolidation including any unrealised profit. 

The Credit Union has elected to present both the credit union as an individual entity and as a consolidated entity on the basis 
that the impact of consolidation is not material to the entity. This applies to all other information unless otherwise stated. Refer 
to Note 33.

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(b) Income and Expense Recognition

Revenues

Revenues are recognised at fair value of the consideration received net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST) payable 
to the Australian Tax Office (ATO). Exchanges of goods or services of the same nature and value without any cash consideration 
are not recognised as revenues.

Sale of Non-current Assets

Revenue from the disposal of assets is recognised when title passes from the Consolidated Entity to the purchaser. The gain 
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the time of disposal and the net 
proceeds on disposal.

Dividends

Dividend income is recognised on the date the Consolidated Entity’s right to receive payment is established.

Interest Income 

Interest income is recognised in the profit or loss using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial asset (or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset. When calculating the effective interest rate, the 
Consolidated Entity estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments. For financial 
assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset. If the asset is no longer impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts 
to the gross basis. 

Retail banking Fees

Retail banking fees charged for provided ongoing services are recognised as performance obligations are satisfied.

Loan Origination Fees

Fee income earned or expenses incurred which are associated with the origination of loans and advances are deferred and 
are recognised as and when the service is provided and the performance obligation in respect of this income is considered to 
be met. This is typically over the life of the loan and form part of the amortised cost of the asset and are brought to account as 
income over the expected life of the loan. The amounts brought to account are included as part of interest revenue. 

Rental Income

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

Other Revenue

Other fee, commission income includes fees earned on a range of products and service platforms and is brought to account on 
an accruals basis over the period that they cover once a right to receive consideration has been attained and the performance 
obligation respect of this income has been met.

Other fee and commissions include wealth management commissions, insurance commissions, ATM fees, card fees and 
transaction fees.

Interest Expense 

Interest expense is recognised in the profit or loss using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial liability (or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the 
Consolidated Entity estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments.

Transaction Costs

Transaction costs are expenses which are direct and incremental to the establishment of the loan. These costs are initially 
deferred as part of the loan balance, and are brought to account as a reduction to income over the expected life of the loan. 
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Tax Accounting Policy

Income Tax

Income tax expense on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are 
recognised in the profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is  
recognised in equity, or in other comprehensive income.

The Consolidated Entity has determined that interest and penalties related to income taxes, including uncertain tax treatments, 
do not meet the definition of income taxes, and therefore accounted for them under IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets.

i. Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any 
adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or receivable 
is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if 
any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax 
arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

ii. Deferred tax

 Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for:

❙  temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

❙  temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements to the extent that 
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future; and

❙  taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Future taxable 
profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary 
differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of 
existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group. 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the 
related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if 
any.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group 
expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. For this purpose, the 
carrying amount of investment property measured at fair value is presumed to be recovered through sale, and the Group 
has not rebutted this presumption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.
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3.2 Changes to accounting policies

(a) AASB 16 Leases

As at 1 July 2019 the Consolidated Entity has applied the requirements of AASB 16 Leases using the modified retrospective 
approach, under which the cumulative effect of initial application is recognised in retained earnings at 1 July 2019. The 
Consolidated Entity has elected not to restate comparatives for the periods of year ended 30 June 2019 as permitted by AASB 
16 under the specific transitional provisions. 

Definition of a lease

Previously the Consolidated Entity determined at contract inception whether an arrangement is or contains a lease under 
IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease. The Consolidated Entity now assesses whether contract is or 
contains a lease based on the definition of a lease. As explained in note 3.3-(o)  - Leases.

On transition to AASB 16, the Consolidated Entity elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of 
which transactions are leases. The Consolidated Entity applied AASB 16 only to contracts that were previously identified as 
leases. Contracts that were not identified as leases under AAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not assessed for whether there is a lease 
under AASB 16.

(i) Impact of adoption

Transition

On transition to AASB 16 the Consolidated Entity recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, recognising the 
difference to retained earnings.

❙  The lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the 
Consolidated Entity’s incremental borrowing rate at 1 July 2019. 

❙  Right-of-use assets were measured at their carrying amount as if AASB 16 had been applied since the commencement 
date, discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application. 

The impact on transition to AASB 16 is summarised below:

Note
1 July 2019

$’000

TRANSITION TO AASB 16

Right-of-use assets presented in property and equipment 18 2,551

Deferred tax asset 51

Lease Liabilities 21 2,720

Retained earnings 28 118

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of AASB 16 have been applied retrospectively, except as 
detailed. Comparative periods have not been restated. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial 
liabilities resulting from the adoption of AASB 16 are recognised in retained earnings as at 1 July 2019. Accordingly, the 
information presented for the financial year 30 June 2019 does not reflect the requirements of AASB 16 and therefore is 
not comparable to the information presented for the financial year ended 30 June 2019 under AASB 16.

For lessee accounting, the new Standard removes the distinction between operating and finance lease. All leases are 
recognised on the statement of financial position with exemptions for short term leases (leases with a lease term of 12 
months) and leases of low-value assets.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied at the date of initial application to lease liabilities recognised in 
the statement of financial position is 6%.

The Consolidated entity did not enter into any new leases during the year ended 30 June 2020.
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The following table reconciles the future rental commitments for operating lease contracts under AASB 117 to the lease 
liability under AASB 16 on transition as at 1 July 2019:

$'000
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at under  AASB 117 as at 30 June 2019 4,226

Less items not included under AASB16 (760)

Less contract timing differences and other  (426)

Less discounting effect using CFCU’s incremental borrowing rate at 1 July 2019 (285)

Recognition exemption for leases with less than 12 months of lease term at transition (35)

Lease liability recognised as at 1 July 2019 2,720

In applying AASB 16 for the first time, the Consolidated entity has used a number of practical expedients, permitted by the 
standard, in particular:

❙  To not recognise short term or low value assets on its statement of financial position;

❙  The use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics;

❙  The exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right of use asset at the date of initial application; and

Judgement has been applied by the Consolidated Entity in determining the transitional adjustment which includes the 
determination of which contractual arrangements represent a lease, the period over which the lease exists, the incremental 
borrowing rate, and the variability of the cash flows.

(ii) Accounting policies implemented

Applicable lease accounting policies prior to 1 July 2019 and post 1 July 2019 are detailed in note 3.3 (o).

The right of use asset is included in the statement of financial position note 18, the lease liability is included in the 
statement of financial position note 21.

Consolidated Entity as the lessor

When the Consolidated Entity acts as a lessor, a distinction should be made between finance leases and operating leases. 
Currently the Consolidated Entity leases out certain property and all are classified as operating leases. The total payments 
under operating leases are recognised in the statement of profit or loss on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.

The Consolidated entity is not required to make any adjustments on transition to AASB 16 for leases in which it acts as a 
lessor.

The Consolidated entity has applied AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in the 
contract to each lease and non lease component.

(b)  AASB Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income tax Treatment

AASB Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income tax Treatment clarified the application of the recognition and measurement 
criteria in AASB 112 Income Taxes where there is uncertainty over income tax treatments and requires an assessment of each 
uncertain tax position as to whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept the position. Where it is not probable, the 
effect of the uncertainty is reflected in determining the relevant taxable profit or loss, tax bases, unused tax losses and unused 
tax credits or tax rates. 
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3.3  Other Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and 
form an integral part of the Consolidated Entity’s cash management are included as a component of cash equivalents for the 
purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position.

(b) Financial instruments

AASB 9 sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets and financial liabilities and some contracts to buy 
or sell non-financial items.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

The Consolidated entity recognises a financial asset or liability in its balance sheet when the Consolidated Entity becomes 
a party to the contractual provision of the instrument. For loans, advances and deposits this is usually on the date on which 
they are originated. All other financial instruments are recognised on the trade date which the entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Consolidated Entity derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Consolidated Entity neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

The Consolidated Entity derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

Financial assets

General classification framework and initial measurement

AASB 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). AASB 9 classification is generally based on 
the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flows. 

The Credit Union classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

❙  those to be measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI); 

❙  fair value through profit and loss FVTPL; and

❙  those to be measured at amortised cost.

At initial recognition, the Consolidated Entity measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not 
at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. 
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed on the income statement.

The classification is dependent upon the Consolidated Entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the 
contractual terms of the cash flows at initial recognition.

Business Models

Business models are classified as either: hold to collect, hold to sell or other depending on how a portfolio of financial 
instruments as a whole is managed. The Consolidated Entity business models are based on the existing management structure 
of the Credit Union, and refined base on an analysis of specific portfolio risks and on historic and expected future sales.

Sales are permissible in a hold to collect business model when these are due to an increase in credit risk, take place close to 
the maturity date, are insignificant in value (both individually and in aggregate) or are infrequent.

The Credit Union makes an assessment of the objectives of a business model in which an assets is held at a portfolio level 
because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The information 
considered includes: 

❙  The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In particular, whether 
management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, 
matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realising cash 
flows through the sale of the assets; 
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❙  How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Consolidated Entity’s management; 

❙  The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and its 
strategy for how those risks are managed; 

❙  How managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets 
managed or the contractual cash flows collected); and 

❙  The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about future sales 
activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how 
the Consolidated Entity’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised. 

Financial assets that are held for trading and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL as 
they do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI. The Credit Union does not currently hold financial assets for trading 
purposes and therefore does not currently measure any securities at FVTPL.

Contractual cash flow characteristics

The contractual cash flows of a financial asset are assessed to determine whether the instrument gives rise to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI). Principal is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial 
recognition. Interest includes consideration for time value of money, credit risk and also consideration for liquidity risk and cost 
associated with holding the financial assets for a particular period of time. In addition interest can include a profit margin that is 
consistent with a basic lending agreement. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Consolidated Entity considers the contractual terms of the 
instruments. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or 
amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Consolidated Entity 
considers: 

❙  Contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows; 

❙  Leverage features; 

❙  Prepayment and extension terms; 

❙  Terms that limit the Consolidated Entity’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse loans); and 

❙  Features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of interest rates).

There are currently two measurement categories into which the Credit Union currently classifies its debt and equity instruments:

❙  Amortised cost – Instruments that are held for collection of contractual cash flows under a hold to collect business model 
where those cash flows represent SPPI are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is 
included in interest income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised 
directly in the income statement. Impairment losses are presented as line item in the income statement. Assets due from 
other financial institutions are carried at amortised cost.

❙  FVOCI - Before the adoption of AASB 9 certain equity investments held by the Consolidated Entity were measured at cost 
because their fair value was not considered to be reliably measured. AASB 9 has removed this cost exception. On initial 
recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading the entity may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes 
in fair value in OCI. This is election is made on an investment by investment basis. Once this election is made the gains and 
losses cannot subsequently be recycled through profit and loss once the investment is sold.

The Consolidated Entity reclassifies debt investments when, and only when, its business model for managing those asset 
changes. 

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified and subsequently measured at amortised cost unless the Consolidated Entity is required to 
measure its liabilities at FVTPL.
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(c) Impairment

Impairment of financial assets

AASB 9 ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model is applied to on-balance sheet financial assets accounted for at amortised cost 
such as loans and lease receivables as well as some off balance sheet items such as undrawn loan commitments and 
undrawn committed revolving credit facilities. Under the ECL model the Consolidated Entity calculates the allowance for credit 
losses (loan loss provision) by considering on a discounted basis the cash shortfalls possibly incurred in default scenarios for 
prescribed future periods against the probability of occurrence. The loan loss provision (LLP) is the sum of these weighted 
outcomes. The LLP is calculated using unbiased and supportable information about past events, current conditions and 
forecasts of future economic conditions. The Credit Union uses a general approach to ECL models for loans and a simplified 
approach for lease receivables and receivables from other institutions.

An ECL assessment is also undertaken over receivables from other financial institutions using an external rating investment 
grades based approach. The ECL as at 30 June 2020 was immaterial on these investments.

General - three stage approach for Loans and Advances

Financial assets are classified in any of the three stages at a monthly reporting date. Financial assets can move between stages 
during their lifetime. The stages are based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition and defined as follows:

❙  Stage 1: 12 month ECL 
 Financial assets that have not had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Assets are classified as stage 1 
upon initial recognition and a provision of ECL associated with the probability of default events occurring within the next 12 
months.

❙  Stage 2: Lifetime ECL not credit impaired 
 Financial assets showing a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. A provision is made for the life time ECL 
representing losses over the life of the financial instrument (lifetime ECL); or

❙  Stage 3: Lifetime ECL credit Impaired 
 Financial instruments that move into Stage 3 once credit impaired require a life time provision.

Significant increase in credit risk

A financial asset moves from Stage 1 to Stage 2 when there is indication of a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. The credit risk framework incorporates qualitative and quantitative information to identify significant increase in 
credit risk which will trigger movement between the stages on an individual and/or collective basis. The Consolidated Entity 
assesses for significant increases in credit risk using: 

❙  Lifetime probability of default of portfolio segment;

❙  Watch list status;

❙  Approved COVID-19 payment deferrals not otherwise impaired

❙  Arrears; and

❙  More than 30 days past due backstop for Stage 1 and Stage 2 transfers.

Macroeconomic scenarios

The Consolidated Entity has established a process to apply the consensus forecast for economic variables such as 
unemployment rates, GDP growth, house prices and official cash rate to the ECL calculation. The model allows adjustment of 
the weighting between three scenarios to produce an unbiased result of: the baseline scenario and alternative, up and down 
scenarios. The scenario settings allow for forward looking adjustments according with regard to key economic indicators, 
market forecasts, applied judgement and executive management outlook. Senior management regularly review and monitor 
prescribed targets of acceptable ranges of key economic factors and apply judgement. Refer to COVID-19- impact on key 
estimates and judgements section below for specific information relating to the current environment.
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Measurement of ECL

The Consolidated Entity uses an internal expected credit loss model utilising past experience of credit deterioration, incurred 
losses, objective evidence and forward looking estimates and judgements to calculate the expected credit loss. The models 
calculates the: expected probability of default (PD), loss given default (LGD)  and exposure at default (EAD) used for ECL to  
provide forward looking point in time estimates based on macroeconomic prediction and a 12 month or life time view of credit 
risk. 

The Consolidated Entity model applies the PD X EAD X LGD approach incorporating the time value of money to measure ECL. 
A forward looking approach on a 12 month horizon is applied for Stage 1 assets. The expected loss is the discounted sum of 
the 12 month expected credit losses. For stage 2 assets a lifetime view on the credit is applied. The lifetime expected loss is 
the discounted sum of the portion of lifetime losses related to default events within the window of the expected lifetime of each 
portfolioa . For stage 3 assets the PD equals 100 percent and LGD and EAD represent the lifetime view of the losses based on 
characteristics of defaulted facilities.

a  The Consolidated Entity calculates the expected lifetime of each loan portfolio based on the current lifecycle (of monthly periods) currently 
estimated as per the table below:

Lifecycle of key loan portfolios Periods
Overdrafts / overdrawn savings 36.00

Personal Loans 22.11

Commercial Loans 58.52

Home Loans 47.97

Credit Cards 14.85

Model inputs

The Consolidated Entity models the ECL for on balance sheet loan commitments measured at amortised cost as well as 
off balance sheet items such as undrawn loan commitments and undrawn lines of credit. Each portfolio is segmented into 
representative groupings which are typically based on shared risk characteristics. 

The key model inputs used in measuring the ECL include:

❙  Exposure at default (EAD): The EAD represents the estimated exposure in the event of a default. The EAD is estimated 
taking into consideration a range of possible exposures including both repayments and future drawdowns of unutilised 
commitments up to when the exposure is expected to default.

❙  Probability of default (PD): The calculation of PD is generally performed at a facility level segmented based on product 
type and shared characteristics that are highly correlated to credit risk. PDs are a function of transition matrices used to 
determine a point in time PD estimate. 

❙  Loss given default (LGD): The LGD associated with PD used is the magnitude of the ECL in a default event. The LGD 
is estimated using historical loss rates considering relevant factors for individual exposures or portfolios. These factors 
include collateral, recovery cost, and the structure of the facility.

Management Overlay

A management overlay adjustment is used by the Consolidated Entity to adjust the expected credit loss model where it is 
judged that existing inputs, assumptions and model techniques do not capture all the risk factors, limitations or complexity in 
apply forward looking judgement relevant to the credit portfolios. The COVID-19 crisis has brought a greater complexity and 
requirement for additional judgement in the estimation of expected credit losses. Refer to application management overlay in 
the COVID-19 impact on key estimates and judgments section below.
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Definition of default

The Consolidated Entity uses the definition of default used for in the Consolidated Entity’s internal credit risk management 
framework and has aligned the definition of credit impaired under AASB 9 stage 3 with the definition of default for prudential 
purposes. Default is generally defined as the point in time when the borrower is unlikely to meet its credit obligations in full, 
without recourse by the Consolidated Entity to take realisation of collateral; or the borrower is 90 days or more past due. 

The Consolidated Entity periodically assesses exposures to determine whether there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk, which may be evidenced by either qualitative or quantitative factors. Qualitative factors include, but are not limited to, 
whether an exposure has been identified and place on credit watch list reports. Where there is a deteriorating credit risk profile, 
the exposures are monitored on a monthly basis through management reporting and credit watch lists reports. All exposures on 
credit watch lists are classified as stage 2 or if defaulted as stage 3.

Credit Impaired financial assets stage 3

Financial assets are assessed at each statement of financial position date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment at each reporting date. Evidence of credit impairment may include indications that the borrower is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, a breach of contract, bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation. 

An asset that is in stage 3 will move back to stage 2 when it is no longer considered credit impaired. The asset will move back 
to stage 1 when its credit risk at the reporting date is no longer considered to have increased significantly from initial recognition.

When an asset identified as credit impaired, expected losses are measured as the difference between the assets gross carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the instruments effective interest rate. For impaired 
financial assets drawn and undrawn components, expected credit loss also reflect any credit losses related to the portfolio of 
the loan commitment that is expect to be drawn down over the remaining life of the instrument. When a financial asset is credit 
impaired, interest ceases to be recognised on the regular accrual basis, which accrues income based on the gross carrying 
amount of the asset. Rather, interest income is calculated by applying the original effective interest rate to the amortised cost of 
the asset, which is the gross carrying amount less the related loan loss provision. The best estimate of a loan loss is calculated 
using the weighted average of the shortfall gross carrying amount minus discounted expected future cash flow. Cash flows from 
collateral are included in the measurement of the expected credit losses of the related financial asset. The estimation of future 
cash flows are subject to significant estimation, uncertainty and assumptions.

The loans loss provision for credit impaired loans in stage 3 is at the individual level, with losses that relate to identified individual 
impaired loans. 

Write off and debt forgiveness

Loans and related ECL are written off, either partly or full from time to time as determined by management and approved by the 
Chief Executive Officer when it is reasonable to expect that the recovery of the debt is unlikely. Bad debts are written off against 
the provision for impairment.

Presentation of impairment

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets.

Significant estimates and judgements - Impairment of financial assets

Considerable judgement is exercised in determining the extent of the loan loss provision for financial assets assessed for 
impairment both individually and collectively and based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The 
Credit Union uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the 
Credit Union’s past history, experience, existing market conditions, and forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting 
period. The key judgement areas are the assumptions used to measure expected credit losses, including the use of forward 
looking and macroeconomic information for both individual and collective assessment of impairment. The scenarios and 
associated probabilities are ultimately approved by executive management.
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The following criteria and definitions are applied for impairment:

❙  The criteria for identifying a significant increase in credit risk 
When determining whether the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly, the Consolidated Entity considers 
reasonable and supportable information available to compare the risk of default occurring at the quarterly reporting date 
with the risk of a default occurring at initial recognition of the final asset. Significant judgement is required to determine the 
criteria for a significant increase in credit risk. As a backstop any loans over 30 days past due are determined to have had a 
significant increase in credit risk.

❙  The definition of default 
Judgement is exercised in management’s evaluation of whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an 
asset has been incurred. Significant judgment is required in assessing evidence of credit impairment and estimation of the 
amount and timing of future cash flows when determining expected credit losses. As a backstop any loans over 90 days past 
due are determined to have had a significant increase in credit risk.

❙  Forward looking estimates 
Judgement is applied in the application of forward looking and macroeconomic information. The use of different assumptions 
and outlook can produce significantly different estimates of expected credit loss. Judgment is used to apply key economic 
data and general market outlook with internal forecasts and risks.

COVID-19 impact on key estimates and judgements

As noted in 2 (c) COVID-19 has impacted key estimates and judgements. The impact and unfolding developments of 
COVID-19 on the global and domestic economy, government, business and consumer impact and interplay is uncertain and 
unprecedented. This uncertainty is reflected in the Consolidated Entity’s assessment of expected credit losses from its credit 
portfolio which are subject to a number of management judgements and estimates.

❙  Individual assessments  
In estimating individually assessed ECL for stage 2 and 3 exposures, the Consolidated entity makes judgements and 
assumptions in relation to inputs and assumptions such as expected repayments, the realisable value of collateral, the 
economic environment, and likely costs and duration. Judgement and assumptions in respect of these matters have been 
updated to reflect the potential impact of COVID-19.

❙  Collective assessments 
In estimating collective assessed ECL the Consolidated Entity makes judgements and assumptions in relation to the selection 
of ECL inputs, assumptions and independencies between these inputs. Judgement and assumptions in respect of these 
matters have been updated to reflect the potential impact of COVID-19.
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The following table summarises the key judgements and assumptions in relation to model inputs and interdependencies 
between these inputs, and highlights significant changes during the period.

The judgements and associated assumptions have been made within the context of the impact of COVID-19 and reflect 
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. In relation to COVID-19, judgements and assumptions about the extent 
and duration of the pandemic, the impacts of government assistance and the response of business and consumers, differing 
industries and occupations, along with the domestic and global economy. The Consolidated Entities estimation of Expected 
Credit Loss is inherently uncertain and actual results and outcomes mays differ from these estimates. 

Judgement and assumptions Changes and considerations with COVID-19

Determining when a significant increase in 
credit risk SICR has occurred

In the measurement of ECL, judgement is involved 
in setting the rules and trigger points to determine 
whether there has been a SICR since recognition 
of a loan, which would result in the financial assets 
moving from stage 1 to stage 2. This represents a 
key area of judgement with transition from stage 1 
to stage 2 changing the ECL from 12 month losses 
to lifetime expected credit losses.

The Consolidated Entity has where possible offered to assist 
members impacted in the COVID-19 with various initiatives. This 
has included payment holidays and deferrals and short term 
interest only periods. Such offers, if accepted, are not necessarily 
considered to indicate SICR but as a practical expedient we have 
included them in the stage 2 ECL assessment. 

The application of categorising customer facilities under COVID-19 
assistance requires professional judgement and may impact the 
size of the ECL allowance. Individual facilities are under close 
ongoing review.

Base case and economic forecast

The Consolidated Entity uses a base case as the 
likely scenario. To apply forward looking economic 
outlook in the current environment requires the 
addition of a management overlay.

The base case assumptions have not been used in light of 
COVID-19. The bad and severe scenarios as outlined below have 
been utilised in determining the 30 June 2020 ECL estimate. 

These scenarios best reflect  the impact of federal and state 
government policy, current economic outlook and the Credit 
Union’s assistance (such as repayment holidays and short term 
interest only facilities) and additional risk factors such as industry 
and occupation. 

Probability weighting of each scenario

The probability weighting of base, bad, good, and 
severe scenarios is determined by management 
considering the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the base case.

The key consideration in the current period has been the 
COVID-19 outlook.

The Consolidated Entity has undertaken a scenario of impact 
under a negative economic impact of COVID-19. Greater weighting 
has been applied to the downside and severe downside scenarios 
given the Consolidated Entity’s assessment of downside risks.

The applied probability weightings are subject to inherent 
uncertainty and the actual outcomes may be significantly to those 
projected. 

The Consolidated Entity considers the weightings to provide the 
best estimate of possible outcomes.

Management adjustments

Management adjustments to the ECL allowance 
are adjustments used in circumstances where it 
is judged that existing inputs, assumptions and 
model techniques do not capture all the risk factors 
relevant to the credit portfolios. Examples of such 
circumstances are: emerging domestic or global 
economic events, natural disasters, or forward 
looking information. 

The use of adjustments may impact the amount of 
ECL recognised.

Management adjustments have been undertaken in the context of 
COVID-19 and the extent that the associated credit loss exposures 
are captured within the modelled scenarios outlined above. 
Adjustments have been made to factor in increased default rates 

Additional forward looking stress testing of the credit portfolios 
has taken place to measure exposures from alternative severe 
scenarios with movement in arrears, default rates and collateral 
values.
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Sensitivity Analysis

With the uncertainty from the impacts of COVID-19 the Consolidated Entity has undertaken additional forward looking sensitivity 
analysis of the credit portfolios to appropriately apply a prudent management adjustment overlay to the ECL allowance. 
This adjustment was measured based on results from stress testing the credit portfolios to measure changes in exposures 
and expected credit losses under projected stressed scenario conditions as a result of COVID-19 economic impacts. This 
provided a movement in arrears, default and collateral securities based on an alternative severe bad case weighted at 99% and 
severe case weighted at 1%, The applied adjustments were based on management judgment, historical experience, available 
information and economic outlook. The ECL model was adjusted by a management overly with regards to these measured 
stress testing results 

The following sensitivity table shows the reported provision for ECl based on the probability weighted scenarios and what the 
provisions for ECL would be assuming a 100% weighting is applied to the base case scenario and to the downside scenario 
when all other assumptions are held constant.as at 30 June 2020

$'000
Reported probability weighted ECL 1,611

100% base scenario 993

100% downside scenario 1,604

100% severe downside scenario 2,209

The following table indicates the weightings applied by the Consolidated Entity at 30 June 2020

Model

Upside 0%

Base Downside 99%

Severe Downside 1%

The modelled provision for ECL at 30 June 2020 is a probability weighted estimate of the Consolidated Entity’s view of the 
forward looking distribution of potential outcomes. The base scenario has been adjusted with the latest view of available 
information regarding the various interplay of economic, societal and government impacts of COVID-19. The current view 
is weighted as a 99% probable outcome of a bad downside and a less likely 1% severe downside outcome. The downside 
scenarios includes a higher rate of arrears and defaults coupled with higher expected losses due to security value decreases. 
The more severe downside would increase arrears and default rates at an even greater level. An upside scenario of an 
improvement in the base downside is not probable at this point in time.

Both the downside and sever downside scenarios include factoring the forward looking interplay of key economic factors with 
expectations of higher unemployment, falling GDP, government intervention and a decline in residential security prices by 20%. 
The applied scenario assumptions are subject to judgement and estimation, represented a point in time. The assumptions will 
be monitored having regard to emerging economic conditions, factors and risk which will apply further ongoing adjustment. 

The below table details the approved COVID-19 impacted facilities 

COVID-19 impacted facilities table

(including off balance sheet exposures)

Facility Count Facility Balance
$,000

Exposure
$,000

ECL Provision
$,000

Stage 1   25 10,738 - -

Stage 2 144 27,280 593 297

Stage 3  21  1,921 151 145

Total 190 39,939 744 442
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Expected Credit Loss analysis

The uncertainty on the impact of COVID-19 increases the risk to the forecast resulting in understatement or overstatement of 
the ECL provision due to the uncertainty of the impacts and evolution of the crisis. The Consolidated Entity’s measurement 
of ECL is at 30 June 2020 available information and applied professional judgement. With the rapidly evolving consequences 
and interplay of government, business and consumer responses could result in significant adjustment to the ECL provision 
within the next financial year or years. Given the current uncertainties and judgement applied to factors used in determining the 
expected default of borrowers in future periods, expected losses reported by the Consolidated Entity should be considered as 
a best estimate within a range of estimates. The Consolidated Entity is continuing to closely monitor and measure the ECL with 
appropriate adjustments and application of professional judgement and will continue. 

Fair value measurement of Financial Instruments

The majority of valuation models of financial instruments used by the Consolidated Entity use only observable market data as 
inputs. This has not changed as a result of COVID-19.

The financial instruments which are subject to valuation using unobservable inputs are disclosed in Note 30 Financial Instrument 
disclosure- fair value hierarchy, and are equity investments where quoted prices in active markets are not available. As the 
assets are classified as fair value through other comprehensive income, changes in the fair value are reflected directly in equity. 

(d) Loans and Advances to Members

All loans are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and inclusive of loan origination fees on the date 
that they are originated. Loans are subsequently measured at amortised cost less impairment losses. Any difference between 
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the profit or loss over the period of the loan 
using the effective interest method.

Loans are derecognised if the Consolidated Entity’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the loans expire or if the 
Consolidated Entity transfers the loan to another party without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the loan.

(e) Equity Investments

Investments in shares are classified and measured as FVOCI under AASB 9. Before the adoption of AASB 9 these securities 
were measured at cost because their fair value was not considered to be reliably measurable. AASB 9 has removed this cost 
exception. Shares are now fair valued using the most recent and relevant market information available to management. Fair 
value gains and losses are recognised through OCI and cannot be recycled through profit upon disposal. Dividend income is 
recognised through profit and loss.   

(f) Intangible Assets

Computer software not integral to the hardware is classified as an intangible asset and stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses. Computer software is amortised over the expected useful life of the software. The lives of 
these assets range from 2 to 5 years. Impairment is assessed on an annual basis. Amortisation charges are recognised in other 
expenses.

(g) Property, Plant and Equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment (except land and buildings) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.

Land and buildings are revalued and stated at fair value at the date of revaluation less subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. 

The Consolidated Entity recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing 
part of such an item when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the item will 
flow to the Consolidated Entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in the profit or 
loss as an expense as incurred. 

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from 
disposal with the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment, and is recognised net within other income / other 
expenses in profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, any related amount included in the revaluation reserve is transferred 
to retained earnings. Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference 
between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit and loss.
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The Consolidated Entity depreciates all assets on a straight line basis so that the cost or valuation of each asset is written off 
over its expected useful life. 

The estimated useful lives of the Consolidated Entity’s assets are outlined below.

2020 2019
Buildings 40 years 40 years

Leasehold Improvements 3 to 5 years 3 to 5 years

Plant and Equipment 3 to 5 years 3 to 5 years

The residual value, the useful life and the depreciation method applied to assets are reassessed at least annually.

(h) Recoverable Amount of Non-current Assets

Non-current assets are recorded at values not exceeding their recoverable amounts. Recoverable amount is determined as 
the net amount expected to be received through the cash inflows and outflows arising from the continued use and subsequent 
disposal of a non-current asset. 

Classes of non-current assets measured at fair value are revalued with sufficient regularity to ensure the carrying amount of 
each asset in the class does not differ materially from fair value at reporting date. Independent valuations are obtained at 
intervals of no more than three years. Revaluation increments, on a class of assets basis, are recognised in the asset revaluation 
reserve within comprehensive income. Revaluation increments reversing a decrement previously recognised as an expense 
are recognised as revenue. Revaluation decrements are only offset against revaluation increments relating to the same class of 
asset and any excess is recognised as an expense.

(i) Members’ Deposits

Member savings and term investments are recognised initially recognised at the fair value and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using he effective interest rate method. The amount of interest accrued at balance date is shown as part of 
payables.

(j) Redeemable Preference Shares

The Credit Union issues redeemable preference shares to each member upon joining in accordance with the Constitution of the 
Credit Union. These shares are redeemed for their face value of $2.00 each on leaving the Credit Union. A member share must 
confer the right to 1 vote, and only 1 vote, at meetings of the Credit Union’s members. No dividend is payable in respect of any 
member share.

On winding-up of the Credit Union the holder of a member share is entitled:

(a) to payment of the subscription price for the member share when the member subscribed for the member share; and

(b) if any assets remain after the payments in paragraph (a) – to any surplus assets of the Credit Union. 

(k) Payables

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received.

(l) Interest Bearing Liabilities

All interest bearing liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. These are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is 
recognised in the profit or loss over the period of the interest bearing liability using the effective interest method. 

Interest bearing liabilities are derecognised if the Consolidated Entity’s obligations specified in the contract expires, are 
discharged or cancelled.

(m) Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

Provisions for employee entitlements

The provision for long service leave is based on the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made resulting from 
employees’ service up to reporting date, and having regard to the probability that employees, as a group, will remain employed 
for the period of time necessary to qualify for long service leave.

Provisions for annual leave represent present obligations resulting from employees’ service calculated on undiscounted amounts 
based on remuneration, wage and salary rates that the Consolidated Entity expects to pay as at reporting date. 
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A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined 
contribution plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in the profit or loss in the periods during which services are 
rendered by employees. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or reduction in future 
payments is available. 

Other Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Consolidated Entity has a present, legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably. The 
amount recognised as a provision is the expected consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date, 
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation and those cash flows are discounted to the present 
value where appropriate.

Contingent liabilities are recognised when it is probable or possible that a present obligation exists but the amount of the 
obligation cannot be estimated reliably.

(n) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

As a financial institution the Credit Union is input taxed on all income except other income from commissions and some fees. 
An input taxed supply is not subject to GST collection, and similarly the GST paid on purchases cannot be recovered. As some 
income is charged GST, the GST on purchases are generally recovered on a proportionate basis. In addition certain prescribed 
purchases are subject to Reduced Input Tax Credits, of which 75% of the GST paid is recoverable. 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the ATO. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of an item of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included where applicable GST is collected.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or current liability in the 
Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.

(o) Leases

Policy applicable prior to 1 July 2019

Leases under which the Consolidated Entity assumes substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership are classified as 
finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases. The Consolidated Entity did not have any finance leases as a 
lessee or lessor. Payments made under operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the term of the lease, except 
where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased property.

Policy applicable from 1 July 2019

Definition

At inception of a contract, the Consolidated Entity assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Consolidated entity uses the definition of a lease in  
AASB 16.

(i) Consolidated Entity as a Lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Consolidated Entity allocates 
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone price. 

The Consolidated entity recognises a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a 
lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payment at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset 
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any payments made at or 
before the commencement date, plus any indirect costs incurred and where appropriate an estimate of costs to dismantle 
and remove any improvements made to stores.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance costs are charged to the profit or loss 
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each 
period.
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The right-of-use asset is depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end of the 
lease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain 
remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Consolidated 
Entity’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Consolidated Entity uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount 
rate.

The Consolidated Entity determines its incremental borrowing rate by analysing cost of borrowings from various external 
sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of asset leased.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

❙  fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 

❙  variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the 
commencement date;

❙  amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

❙  the exercise price under a purchase option that the Consolidated Entity is reasonably certain to exercise, lease 
payments in an optional renewal period if the Consolidated Entity is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, 
and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Consolidated Entity is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a 
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Consolidated Entity’s 
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Consolidated Entity changes its 
assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed 
lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 
The Consolidated Entity presents right-of-use assets in Note 18 and lease liabilities in Note 21 in the statement of financial 
position.

Short term leases and leases of low value assets

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-
term leases, including leases of some printer equipment. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these 
leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

The Consolidated entity received COVID-19 rent relief for a limited period in the form of rent waiver at one store location. 
The Consolidated Entity applied the practical expedient under AASB 2020-4 COVID-19 related rent concession in the 
period. The result of applying this practical expedient was a reduced expense of $1,9k over two months.

(ii) Consolidated Entity as a Lessor

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Consolidated Entity allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices. 

When the Consolidated Entity acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether the lease is a finance lease or an 
operating lease. The Consolidated Entity did not have any finance leases as a lessor.

To classify each lease, the Consolidated Entity makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all 
of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; 
if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Consolidated Entity considers certain indicators such as 
whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset. Consolidated Entity. 

The Consolidated Entity applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in AASB 9 to the net investment in the 
lease 
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3.4 New Standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 July 
2020, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. Those which may be relevant to the Consolidated Entity 
and the assessment of impact of these new standards and interpretations are set out below. 

The Consolidated Entity and the Credit Union do not plan to adopt these standards early. 

AASB 117 Insurance Contracts 

Nature of change

AASB 117 Insurance Contracts

Impact

Not expected to be applicable for Consolidated Entity. 

Date of application

AASB 117 is expected to be effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022.

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Introduction and Overview

The Consolidated Entity has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

❙  credit risk

❙  liquidity risk

❙  market risks

❙  operational risks

❙  capital management

This note presents information about the Consolidated Entity’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and their management of capital.

Risk Management Framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The Board 
has established the Board Audit and Board Risk Committees (BAC and BRC) to oversee the financial reporting and audit and risk 
management processes. These Committees comprise of up to four Directors, none of whom is the Chairman of the Board.

The risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the entity, to set appropriate risk limits and 
controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect 
changes in market conditions, products and services offered. The Consolidated Entity, through its training and management 
standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment, in which all employees understand 
their roles and obligations. 

The Board Audit and Board Risk Committee’s major activities are to: 

❙  monitor corporate risk assessment and the evaluation of the effectiveness of internal controls and policies;

❙  monitor audit reports received from internal and external auditors, and management responses thereto;

❙  liaise with the auditors (internal and external) on the scope of their work, and experience in conducting an effective audit;

❙  ensure that external auditors remain independent in the areas of work conducted;

❙  oversee compliance with statutory responsibilities relating to financial disclosure and management information reporting to the 
Board; and

❙  assist the Board in the engagement, performance assessment and remuneration of the auditors.
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(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Consolidated Entity if a member or Counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the loans and advances to members, liquid investments and investment 
securities. 

Management of Credit Risk – Loans and Advances

The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the management of credit risk to the Credit Services Department in respect of 
loans and advances. The Credit Services Department is responsible for oversight of the credit risk, including:

❙  Formulating credit policies covering collateral requirements, credit assessment, risk grading and reporting, documentary and legal 
procedures, and compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements.

❙  Establishing the authorisation structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities. Authorisation limits are allocated to Credit 
Officers. Credit facilities exceeding $1.5 million require approval by the Credit Sub Committee comprising of two Executives and 
the Head of Credit Services. The Credit Sub Committee in turn makes recommendations to the Chief Executive Officer for the final 
approval. Any delegation used within policy is tabled to the Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) for approval.

❙  Reviewing and assessing credit risk. The Credit Services Department assesses all credit exposures in excess of designated limits, 
prior to facilities being committed to members concerned. Renewals and reviews of facilities are subject to the same review 
process.

❙  Review, approval and assessment process for measuring ECL. 

❙  Limit concentrations of exposure to counterparties.

❙  Reviewing compliance with agreed exposure limits. Regular reports are provided to the Credit Services Department on the credit 
quality of loans and appropriate corrective action is taken. 

Management of Credit Risk – Liquid Investments

The risk of losses from liquid investments undertaken is reduced by the nature and quality of the independent rating of the 
counterparty, and the limits of concentration of investments to any counterparty. A limit is also set for each counterparty based on 
a credit rating assigned by an independent rating agency with the exception of other Mutual ADIs which are considered separately 
within the policy.

Management of Credit Risk – Investment Securities

In respect of investment securities, any investment activity undertaken requires Board approval on a case by case basis. The 
Consolidated Entity will make equity investments in companies or joint ventures only where the investment is deemed necessary by 
the Board of Directors and is related to the provision of products or services to Community First or its members. The Consolidated 
Entity will obtain APRA’s approval before committing to any exposure to entities in excess of prescribed limits.
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Exposure to Credit Risk – Loans and Advances to Members 

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Gross amount 845,618 879,060

Collectively impaired   

30 days & less than 60 days 64 155

60 days & less than 90 days 54 106

90 days & less than 182 days 560 152

182 days & less than 273 days 109 32

273 days & less than 365 days 11 58

More than 365 days 25 -

Gross amount 823 503

Overdrawn/Overlimit

Less than 14 days 15 31

14 days & less than 90 days 42 85

90 days & less than 182 days 70 53

182 days & over 47 49

Gross amount 174 218

Past due but not impaired *

*Category 1 – Adequately secured mortgage loans 

30 days & less than 60 days 795 611

60 days & less than 90 days 1,977 399

90 days & less than 182 days 1,293 592

182 days  to 273 days 531 147

273 days to 365 days - -

365 days & over 287 -

Gross amount 4,883 1,749

Neither past due nor impaired 

Loans and advances 839,738 876,590

Allowance for impairment (1,611) (1,431)

Deferred loan fees and expenses (112) (89)

Unearned income (480) (706)

Total carrying amount 843,415 876,834

Includes accounts with renegotiated terms     7,286 2,825
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Impaired Loans

Impaired loans are loans for which the Credit Union and the Consolidated Entity determines that it is probable that it will be unable 
to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of the loan. The impaired loan balance includes eligible 
members that applied and were granted a 3 month repayment deferral due to the impact of COVID-19 as at 30 June 2020. These 
COVID-19 impaired loans are not included in accounts with renegotiated terms. 

Loans with Renegotiated Terms

Loans with renegotiated terms are loans that have been restructured due to deterioration in the borrower’s financial position and 
where the Consolidated Entity has made concessions that it would not otherwise consider. Once the loan is restructured it remains in 
this category independent of satisfactory performance after restructuring.

Allowances for Impairment

Under the ECL model the Consolidated Entity calculates the allowance for Bad debtsloans loses and any loans in default  are written 
off from time to time as determined by management and approved by the Chief Executive Officer when it is reasonable to expect that 
the recovery of the debt is unlikely. Bad debts are written off against the provision for impairment, if a provision for impairment had 
previously been recognised. If no provision had been recognised, the write-offs are recognised as expense in the profit and loss.

Write-off Policy

The Credit Union and the Consolidated Entity writes off a loan when the Credit Services Department determines that a loan is 
uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering information such as the occurrence of significant changes in the 
borrower’s financial position such that the borrower can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be 
sufficient to pay back the entire exposure. 

The Credit Union and the Consolidated Entity holds collateral against loans and advances to members in the form of mortgage 
interests over property, other registered securities over assets, and guarantees. Estimates of fair value are based on the value of 
collateral assessed at the time of borrowing, and generally are not updated except when a loan is individually assessed as impaired.

An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against past due but not impaired and individually 
impaired financial assets are shown below:

Loans and Advances to Members

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Past due but not impaired 4,883 1,740

Collateral - Property 12,333 2,995

It is the Consolidated Entity’s policy to dispose of repossessed properties in an orderly fashion. The proceeds are used to reduce or 
repay the outstanding claim. The Consolidated Entity does not use or take repossessed properties for business use. During the year 
ended 30 June 2020, the Consolidated Entity took possession of collateral worth $22,350 (30 June 2019: $140,000).

The Consolidated Entity monitors concentration of credit risk by purpose. An analysis of concentrations of credit risk at the reporting 
date is shown below:

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Residential loans* 766,559 801,499

Personal loans 46,701 40,846

Commercial loans 4,255 2,841

Revolving Credit 6,628 7,937

Credit Cards 21,475 25,937

Total gross loans 845,618 879,060

*Note residential loans are by purpose and may include unsecured facilities not included in the Loan to Value table below.  
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The Loan to Value Ratio against eligible residential mortgages is shown below:

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

LVR
LVR 0% to 60% 378,442 404,143

LVR 60% to 80% 276,490 322,015

LVR 80% to 90% 49,816 43,551

LVR 90% to 100% 45,350 25,856

LVR > 100% 6,300 3,964

Total residential mortgages 756,398 799,529

The Consolidated Entity also monitors the investment options in the market based on the credit rating of the counterparty. An 
analysis of concentrations of investment credit risk at the reporting date is shown below:

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Long Term Rating 
Standard & Poor’s

AA- 36,505 37,731

A+ 25,065 31,401

A - 1,000

A- 34,935 44,519

BBB+ 60,310 12,875

BBB 64,038 48,387

BBB- 4,000 -

Unrated (other mutual ADI’s) 40,500 18,500

Total 265,353 194,413

An ECL assessment is undertaken over receivables from other financial institutions exposures using an external rating investment 
grades based approach. The ECL at 30 June 2020 was immaterial on these investments. 

(c) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Consolidated Entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial liabilities that are 
settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

Management of Liquidity Risk 

The Consolidated Entity’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to 
meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damages 
to the Consolidated Entity’s reputation.

COVID-19 has impacted the normal operations of financial markets. The actions of the Reserve Bank of Australia has provided 
significant liquidity support to the system and financial markets generally. Community First liquidity has remained above management 
targets throughout this period and has been strengthened following the actions of the Reserve Bank.

Treasury receives weekly reports regarding the liquidity profile of all financial assets and liabilities and details of other projected cash 
flows arising from projected future business. Treasury then maintains a portfolio of short term liquid assets and other short term 
borrowing facilities with domestic financial institutions to ensure that sufficient liquidity is maintained. 

The Consolidated Entity is required to maintain at least 9% of total adjusted liabilities as liquid assets capable of being converted to 
cash within 48 hours under the APRA Prudential Standards. The Consolidated Entity’s policy is to apply a minimum target of 11% 
of funds as liquid assets to maintain adequate funds for meeting withdrawal requests. Given the current economic conditions, the 
Consolidated Entity is maintaining a minimum liquidity ratio of 12%. The liquidity position is monitored daily. Should the liquidity ratio 
fall below this level, the management and Board has established a plan to address the matter as outlined in the board policy on 
liquidity and funding risk management.
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All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by the Assets and Liability Committee, Board Risk Committee 
and the full Board.

The Consolidated Entity relies on deposits from members as its primary source of funding. The short-term nature of these deposits 
increases the Consolidated Entity’s liquidity risk and the Consolidated Entity actively manages this risk through maintaining 
competitive pricing and constant monitoring of market trends. 

As at 30 June 2020 the Consolidated Entity holds a total liquidity ratio of 23.6% (2019: 17.8%) in the form of High Quality Liquid 
Assets (HQLA) 18.4% (2019: 14.9%) and non-High Quality Liquid Assets 5.2% (2019: 2.9%).

Exposure to Liquidity Risk 

Details of the reported Consolidated Entity liquidity ratio at the reporting date and during the reporting period were as follows:

2020 2019
At 30 June (HQLA) 18.4% 14.9%

Average for the period 15.2% 14.7%

Maximum for the period 18.4% 16.2%

Minimum for the period 13.7% 13.2%

The Consolidated Entity’s residual contractual maturities of its financial liabilities are as follows:

Note

Carrying 
amount on 

balance 
sheet

Gross 
nominal 

(outflows)
Less than  

1 month
1 to 3  

months
3 months  
to 1 year

1 to 5  
years

30 JUNE 2020
Deposits 19 1,006,146 (1,009,358) (688,646) (94,680) (189,953) (36,079)

Payables 20 5,069 (5,069) (5,069) - - -

Interest bearing Liabilities 21 24,000 (24,170) - - - (24,170)

1,035,215 (1,038,597) (693,715) (94,680) (189,953) (60,249)

Note

Carrying 
amount on 

balance 
sheet

Gross 
nominal 

(outflows)
Less than  

1 month
1 to 3  

months
3 months  
to 1 year

1 to 5  
years

30 JUNE 2019
Deposits 19 994,652 (1,000,628) (631,627) (86,135) (249,816) (33,050)

Payables 20 6,264 (6,264) (6,264) - - -

Interest bearing Liabilities 21 - - - - - -

1,000,916 (1,006,892) (637,891) (86,135) (249,816) (33,050)

This table shows the undiscounted cash flows on the Consolidated Entity’s financial liabilities and unrecognised loan commitments 
on the basis of their earlier possible contractual maturity. The Consolidated Entity’s expected cash flows on these instruments 
vary significantly from this analysis. For example, demand deposits from members are expected to maintain a stable or increasing 
balance; and unrecognised loan commitments are not all expected to be drawn down immediately.

The gross nominal inflow/ (outflow) disclosed in the previous table represents the contractual undiscounted cash flows relating to the 
principal and interest on the financial liability or commitment. 

(d) Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, equity prices or foreign exchange rates will affect the 
Consolidated Entity’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to 
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.
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Management of Market Risks

The Consolidated Entity is not exposed to currency risk as the Consolidated Entity does not trade in the financial instruments it holds 
on its books. The Consolidated Entity is exposed to interest rate risk arising from changes in market interest rates.

Overall authority for market risk is vested in the Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO). The Finance and Risk departments are 
responsible for the development of detailed risk management policies (subject to review and approval by ALCO) and the day to day 
review of their implementation. 

Exposure to Market Risks

The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair 
values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates. The main tool used to measure and control market 
risk exposure within the Consolidated Entity’s non trading portfolio is Value at Risk (VaR). The VaR of the non-trading portfolio is the 
estimated loss that will arise on the portfolio over a specified period of time (holding period) from an adverse market movement with 
a specified probability (confidence level). The VaR model used by the Consolidated Entity is based upon a 99% confidence level and 
assumes a 250-day holding period. The VaR model used is based mainly on historical simulation. Taking account of market data 
from the previous two years, and observed relationships between different markets and prices, the model generates a wide range of 
plausible future scenarios for market price movements.

Although VaR is an important tool for measuring market risk, the assumptions on which the model is based do give rise to some 
limitations, including the following:

❙  A 250-day holding period assumes that it is possible to hedge or dispose of positions within that period. This is considered to 
be a realistic assumption in almost all cases but may not be the case in situations in which there is severe market illiquidity for a 
prolonged period.

❙  A 99 percent confidence level does not reflect losses that may occur beyond this level. Even within the model used there is a one 
percent probability that losses could exceed the VaR.

❙  1500-day observation period. The use of historical data as a basis for determining the possible range of future outcomes may not 
always cover all possible scenarios, especially those of an exceptional nature.

❙  The VaR measure is dependent upon the Consolidated Entity’s position and volatility of market prices. The VaR of an unchanged 
position reduces if the market price volatility declines and vice versa.

The Consolidated Entity uses VaR limits for interest rate risk. The overall structure of VaR limits is subject to review and approval by 
ALCO, BRC and the Board. VaR is measured monthly and reports utilising VaR limits are submitted to ALCO and the Board for each 
meeting.

The Value at Risk as at 30 June 2020 is $3,265,082 (2019: $2,716,427).

A summary of the VaR position of the Consolidated Entity’s non trading portfolio as at 30 June 2020 and during the period is as 
follows:

2020
(% of Capital)

2019
(% of Capital)

At 30 June 3.8 3.2

Average for the period 3.8 2.2

Maximum for the period 4.3 3.2

Minimum for the period 3.6 1.8

A summary of the Consolidated Entity interest rate gap position can be seen in Note 30.

The management of interest rate risk also involves the monitoring of the sensitivity of the Consolidated Entity’s financial assets and 
liabilities to a parallel shift across the yield curve. An analysis of the Consolidated Entity’s sensitivity to 200 basis points shift in market 
interest rates is as follows:

2020
(% of Capital)

2019
(% of Capital)

At 30 June

200 basis points increase 7.1 6.0

200 basis points decrease (7.1) (6.0)

The negative value implies that the portfolio would lose this amount as a percentage of capital, if there were a parallel shift down in 
the yield curve.
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(e) Operational Risks 

Operational risk is a risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Consolidated Entity’s 
processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks such as 
those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks 
arise from all of the Consolidated Entity’s operations and are faced by all business entities.

The Consolidated Entity’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage 
to the Consolidated Entity’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and 
creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is assigned to 
management within each business unit. This responsibility is supported by the development of the overall Consolidated Entity’s 
standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas:

❙  Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions

❙  Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions

❙  Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements

❙  Documentation of controls and procedures

❙  Requirements for the periodical assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and procedures to address 
the risks identified

❙  Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action

❙  Development of contingency plans

❙  Training and professional development

❙  Ethical and business standards

❙  Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective

Compliance with the Consolidated Entity’s standards is supported by a program of periodic reviews undertaken by Internal Audit. 
The results of Internal Audit reviews are discussed with the management of the business unit to which they relate, with summaries 
submitted to the Board Risk Committee and senior management of the Consolidated Entity.

The Credit Union invoked its pandemic plan as a consequence Covid-19. Specific actions include:

❙  Remote working and working from home for non-member facing staff

❙  Segregation of departments to minimise potential cross contamination.

❙  Introducing social distancing and self-isolation processes in accordance with Department of Health guidelines.

❙  Providing personal protection safeguards in member facing locations.

❙  Providing hardship solutions for Covid-19 impacted members.

(f) Capital Management

The Consolidated Entity is licensed as an Australian Deposit-taking Institution (‘ADI’) under the Banking Act and is subject to 
prudential supervision by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (‘APRA’).

The APRA Standards include APS 110 Capital Adequacy which:

i.  requires the Consolidated Entity to have a capital buffer sufficient to absorb unanticipated losses from its activities and, in the 
event of problems, to enable the Consolidated Entity to continue operating in a sound and viable manner whilst the problems 
are addressed or resolved;

ii.  requires the Consolidated Entity to manage its capital by aligning its risk appetite and risk profile with its capacity to absorb 
losses;
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iii.  imposes on the Board of the Consolidated Entity a duty to ensure that the Consolidated Entity maintains an appropriate level 
and quality of capital commensurate with the type, amount and concentration of risks to which the Consolidated Entity is 
exposed from its activities; and

iv.  obliges the Consolidated Entity to have in place an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (‘ICAAP’).

The Consolidated Entity’s primary source of capital is retained earnings. The Consolidated Entity maintains its’ capital levels for the 
current and future activities by conducting the ICAAP on an annual basis, and maintaining a Capital Management Plan. The plan 
addresses the capital requirements prescribed by APRA, the strategy for managing capital resources over time, a capital target, 
how the required capital requirements is to be met and actions and procedures for monitoring compliance with minimum capital 
requirements.

During the year, the Consolidated Entity has complied in full with all its externally imposed requirements. 

The Consolidated Entity regulatory capital position at 30 June was as follows:

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Tier 1 capital 83,560 80,306

Tier 2 capital 3,623 3,633

Total regulatory capital 87,183 83,939

Total risk weighted assets 585,439 556,791

Total capital ratio 14.9% 15.1%

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

5. INTEREST INCOME AND INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest Income

Cash deposits at call 29 85

Deposits with other financial institutions 3,577 5,067

Loans and advances 32,763 34,464

Total interest revenue 36,369 39,616

Interest Expense

Member deposits 11,969 15,174

Wholesale deposits 356 375

Borrowings 2 8

Total interest expense 12,327 15,557

Net Interest Income 24,042 24,059
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2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

6. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON LOANS AND ADVANCES

New and increased provisions (net of releases) 435 190

Bad debts written off directly against profit 145 210

580 400

7. NON INTEREST INCOME

Dividends 787 468

Fees and commissions

 - loan fee income – other than loan origination fees 1,275 1,037

 - transaction fees 1,361 1,705

 - other fee income 776 1,029

 - insurance commissions 261 244

 - other commissions 829 933

 - wealth management commissions 304 366

Bad debts recovered 195 225

Other revenue

 - rental income 336 246

 - ATM fees 107 268

 - other a 493 88

6,724 6,609

(a) Gain on Sale of Non-current Assets

Gross proceeds on sale of non-current asset 16 80

Less: written down value of non-current assets (3) (26)

Profit on sale of non-current assets 13 54

a Includes GST refund and Federal Cash Flow boost received as a result of COVID-19.
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 2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

8. OTHER EXPENSES
Staff  - salaries and wages 10,026 9,704

 - employee entitlements 1,443 1,365

 - superannuation 1,162 1,140

 - payroll tax 646 628

 - seminars and training 91 99

 - recruitment 9 15

 - workers' compensation insurance 80 5

 - other 282 326

13,739 13,282

Occupancy a  - rent of store premises - 1,956

 - short term rent arrangement 401 -

 - lease Liability interest 139 -

 - right of use asset depreciation 852 -

 - outgoings 216 -

 - depreciation 333 217

 - other 910 973

2,851 3,146

Computer and Equipment  - depreciation 136 179

 - amortisation of software 466 365

 - bureau services and maintenance 3,000 2,882

3,602 3,426

Other  - advertising and promotion 1,005 818

 - communications 228 293

 - proprietary ATM's 248 383

 - member remote access 2,855 2,922

 - affiliation, regulatory and insurance 679 671

 - loans administration costs 75 113

 - depreciation - furniture and office equipment 420 327

 - depreciation – motor vehicles 98 86

 - general administration cost 307 329

 - other 2,910 3,039

8,825 8,981

29,017 28,835

(a) Auditor's Remuneration $ $
Audit services: Auditors of the Consolidated Entity

KPMG - audit and review of financial reports 157,280 128,883

KPMG - other regulatory audit services 49,064 40,800

206,344 169,683

Other services:

KPMG - Taxation 16,104 15,698

EY - Internal audit 156,000 143,376

172,104 159,074

378,448 328,757

a  Transition to AASB16 at 1/7/2019 resulted in applicable right of use asset depreciation expense and lease liability interest. Short term 
lease rental expense are exempt from AASB 16
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2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current tax expense 279 117

Adjustment for prior years 12 -

Current year tax expense 291 117

Deferred tax expense (200) 113

Total income tax expense 91 230

Numerical reconciliation between tax expense and pre-tax net profit

Profit for the year 1,078 1,203

Total income tax expense 91 230

Profit excluding income tax 1,169 1,433

Income tax using tax rate of 27.5% 322 394

Prior year tax adjustment 12 -

Non-deductible expenses 4 3

Tax freea  (14)

Franking rebate (229) (145)

Transitional Tax rate adjustment (4) (22)

91 230

The amount of non distributable franking credits held by the Consolidated Entity after 
adjustment for credits arising on tax payable in the current year’s result.

18,602 18,825

10. CASH ASSETS

Cash on hand and at bank 5,595 3,431

Deposits at call - 8,500

5,595 11,931

11. RECEIVABLES DUE FROM OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Recorded as Amortised Cost Investments

Deposits with Cuscal Limited 17,470 17,470

Deposits with other ADIs* 242,288 165,012

259,758 182,482

Maturity Analysis

Not longer than 3 months 118,586 64,201

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months 85,978 58,230

Longer than 12 months 55,194 60,051

259,758 182,482

*Includes the liquidity, expense and Interest reserve of $9,244,000 held with easy street Trust which is not immediately available for use.

a Tax free income relates to the Federal Cash Flow boost received as a result of COVID-19.
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2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

12. LOANS AND ADVANCES

Overdrafts 6,628 7,958

Credit Cards 21,475 25,937

Term loans 817,515 845,165

Gross Loans and Advances 845,618 879,060

Less: Deferred loan fees and expenses (112) (89)

Less: Unearned income (480) (706)

Less: Provision for impaired loans (Note 13) (1,611) (1,431)

Net Loans and Advances 843,415 876,834

Securitised Loans

The values of securitised loans which do not qualify for derecognition as the conditions 
do not meet the criteria in AASB 9.

118,189 167,892

Maturity Analysis

Not longer than 3 months 43,080 49,164

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months 1,446 4,651

Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years 40,306 32,931

Longer than 5 years 760,786 792,314

845,618 879,060

Credit Commitments

Loans approved not funded 17,481 20,720

Loan facilities for members’ overdrafts, lines of credit and Visa credit limits approved as 
at 30 June

77,188 82,922

Total facilities utilised (28,103) (33,894)

Total facilities unutilised 49,085 49,028
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13. IMPAIRMENT OF LOANS AND ADVANCES

Provision for Impairment – ECL reconciliation  

Provision for Impairment

The table below represents the reconciliation from the opening to the closing balance of ECL allowances on loan assets to which the 
impairment requirements under AASB 9 are applied:

Year ended 30 June 2019

Stage 1  
12 month  

ECL
$’000

Stage 2 
Lifetime  

ECL
$’000

Stage 3 
Lifetime  

ECL
$’000

Provision  
Total
$’000

As at 1 July 2018 after adjustment for initial application of AASB 9 776 556 99 1,431

Changes due to financial assets that have:

Transferred to 12 months ECL collectively assessed 40 (40) - -

Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit impaired collectively assessed (70) 151 (81) -

Transfer to lifetime ECL credit impaired specifically assessed - (254) 254 -

New and increased provisions net of releases (66) 171 85 190

Bad debts written off - - (190) (190)

As at 30 June 2019 680 584 167 1,431

Year ended 30 June 2020

Stage 1  
12 month  

ECL
$’000

Stage 2 
Lifetime  

ECL
$’000

Stage 3 
Lifetime  

ECL
$’000

Provision  
Total
$’000

As at 30 June 2019 680 584 167 1,431

Changes due to financial assets that have:

Transferred to 12 months ECL collectively assessed 31 (31) - -

Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit impaired collectively assessed (82) 82 - -

Transfer to lifetime ECL credit impaired specifically assessed (59) (189) 248 -

New and increased provisions net of releases 291 99 45 435

Bad debts written off - - (255) (255)

As at 30 June 2020 861 545a 205 1,611

a The Stage 2 ECL provision includes eligible members that applied and were granted a 3 month deferral repayment as a result of 
COVID-19 in the period ended 30 June 2020. Members that applied and approved for short term interest only facilities have not been 
adjusted to stage 2 unless impaired. Refer in note 3 to all COVID-19 impacted facilities table.
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2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

14. FINANACIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

a. Shares in Unlisted Companies

 Cuscal Limited 5,431 5,431

 TAS 4,041 3,901

9,472 9,332

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software 2,988 2,893

Accumulated amortisation (2,179) (2,212)

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 809 681

Additions 372 514

Loss on disposal - (21)

Transfer from business combination - -

Amortisation for current year (466) (365)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 715 809

16. ACCRUED RECEIVABLES*

Accrued interest 571 894

Accrued non-interest income 49 408

Debtors and prepayments 965 1,547

Income tax receivable 111 861

1,696 3,710

*All accrued receivables are due within 12 months.
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2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land and Buildings

Land 9,025 4,400

Building 5,253 8,037

14,278 12,437

Less accumulated depreciation (90) (1,434)

Land and Buildings 14,188 11,003

Plant and Equipment

Office equipment

At cost 1,000 977

Less accumulated depreciation (910) (866)

90 111

Furniture and Fittings

At cost 3,422 3,902

Less accumulated depreciation (2,603) (3,069)

819 833

Data Processing Equipment

At cost 2,204 2,199

Less accumulated depreciation (1,950) (1,998)

254 201

Motor Vehicles

At cost 393 421

Less accumulated depreciation (210) (169)

183 252

Plant and Equipment 1,346 1,397

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 15,534  12,400

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below:

Land and Buildings

Carrying amount at the beginning of year 11,003 10,452

Additions 224 767

Revaluation 3,294 -

Depreciation (333) (216)

Carrying amount at end of year 14,188 11,003

Plant and Equipment

Carrying amount at the beginning of year 1,397 1,569

Additions 607 554

Disposals (3) (133)

Depreciation (655) (593)

Carrying amount at end of year 1,346 1,397

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 15,534 12,400
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The Consolidated Entity has determined that the financial statements should reflect the fair value of the investment in the land and 
building. The policy of the Consolidated Entity is to revalue land and building every three years to reflect the current market value. An 
independent valuation was performed by James Popovic AAPI of Colliers International Valuations at 30 June 2019. The building and land 
were previously valued in June 2016. The increased valuation of $3.294m was adopted in 2019/20 based on the independent valuation 
as at 30 June 2019. This was based on the increase in the valuation from on a range of Market Capitalisation Approach and Direct 
Comparison Approach adopted. 

18. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

The Consolidated Entity has implemented AASB 16 without restating comparative, no right of use asset was recognised in year ended 30 
June 2019. Refer to note 3.2 - AASB 16 Leases impact of adoption. Right of use assets relate primarily to leased store premises.

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

Carrying amount at beginning of year - n/a

Transition to AASB 16 2,551 n/a

Re-measurement with CPI 7 n/a

Depreciation (854) n/a

Carrying amount at end of year 1,704 n/a

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

19. DEPOSITS

Savings deposits 612,431 552,657

Term deposits 386,940 415,267

Wholesale deposits 6,665 26,619

Member shares 110 109

1,006,146 994,652

Maturity Analysis

At call 608,964 549,189

Not longer than 3 months 173,939 167,961

Longer than 3 and not longer than 6 months 106,827 121,534

Longer than 6 and not longer than 12 months 81,596 124,601

Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years 34,820 31,367

1,006,146 994,652

Concentration of Deposits

There are no members who individually have deposits which represent 10% or more 
of total liabilities.
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2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

20. PAYABLES*
Sundry creditors and accruals 2,232 2,356

Accrued interest payable 2,837 3,908

5,069 6,264

*All payables are due within 12 months.

21. LEASE LIABILITIES 

The Consolidated Entity has implemented AASB 16 without restating comparative, no lease liabilities were recognised in year ended 30 
June 2019. Refer to note 3.2, AASB 16 Leases impact of adoption.

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

Carrying amount at beginning of year - n/a

Transition to AASB 16 2,720 n/a

Lease interest 139 n/a

Repayments (970) n/a

Closing Balance 1,889 n/a

22. INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES 

Term Funding Facility with Reserve Bank of Australia

Loan Facility - Secured

Gross Facility 25,903 -

Current borrowing 24,000 -

Net Available 1,903 -

The Term Funding Facility (TFF) to support lending to Australian Businesses was announced on 19 March 2020 as part of a package of 
measures to support the Australian economy impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Under the TFF, the Reserve Bank offered three-year 
funding to authorised deposit-taking institutions (ADIs) through repurchase transactions at a fixed rate of 25 basis points per annum.

Community First was allocated an initial allowance of $25.9m which was based on 3.0% of the total credit outstanding to Australian 
residential households and (non-related) businesses, measured as the average of Community First total credit in the three months ending 
31 January 2020. Community First may also be able to access an additional allowance, which is calculated based on Community First’s 
increase in credit outstanding to large businesses and SMEs. 

On 6 April 2020 Community First have drawn down $24.0m of the $25.9m TFF using the self-securitised asset-backed securities as 
collateral. These funds were drawn down as a precautionary measure only and can be repaid at this time without affecting any prudential 
liquidity measure. The underlying face value of $41.7m were used for the purchased securities.
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23. STANDBY AND USED BORROWING FACILITIES

Loan Facility – Secured

Gross facility - 10,000

Current borrowing - -

Net available - 10,000

Overdraft Facility – Secured

Gross facility 6,000 6,000

Current borrowing   -   -

Net available 6,000 6,000

Total Facility

Gross facility 6,000 16,000

Current borrowing - -

Net available 6,000 16,000

24. RECONGISED DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Assets Liabilities Net

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

Revaluation of financial assets at FVOCI - - (1,189) (1,185) (1,189) (1,185)

Provision for loan impairment 476 429 - - 476 429

Intangible assets 76 71 - - 76 71

Property, plant and equipment 31 27 (1,609) (705) (1,578) (678)

Right of use assets - - (478) - (478) -

Payables 59 112 (33) (59) 26 53

Lease liabilities 531 - - - 531 -

Employee benefits 1,036 918 - - 1,036 918

2,209 1,557 (3,309) (1,949) (1,100) (392)
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Annual Leave
$‘000

Long Service Leave
$‘000

Other

$‘000
Total
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

25. PROVISIONS

Balance at 1 July 2019 957 2,190 233 3,380

Provisions made during the year 969 473 - 1,442

Provisions used during the year (811) (182) (231) (1,224)

Balance at 30 June 2020 1,115 2,481 2 3,598

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

26. REDEEMED PREFERENCE SHARE CAPITAL ACCOUNT

The redeemed preference share capital account records the dollar value of shares redeemed as at year to date.  
Each share is valued at $2 per share.

Balance at the beginning of the year 462 451

Attributable to business combinations - -

Transfer from retained earnings on share redemption 8 11

Balance at the end of year 470 462

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

27. RESERVES

Asset revaluation reserve (i) 7,140 4,823

Credit loss reserve (ii) 2,452 2,452

Business combination reserve 12,002 12,002

21,594 19,277
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Asset 
revaluation 

Reserve
$’000

Credit loss 
reserve

$’000

Business 
combination 

reserve
$’000

Total  
Reserves

$’000

Consolidated and Credit Union

RECONCILIATION OF RESERVES 2020

Opening Balance 1 July 2019 4,823 2,452 12,002 19,277

FVOCI revaluation movement for the year, net of tax 11 - - 11

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 2,306 - - 2,306

Closing Balance 30 June 2020 7,140 2,452 12,002 21,594

Nature and Purpose of Reserves

i. Asset Revaluation Reserve

The asset revaluation reserve relates to equity instruments designated at FVOCI, property, plant and equipment measured at fair 
value in accordance with applicable Australian Accounting Standards. 

ii. Credit Loss Reserve

This reserve records amounts previously set aside as a general provision and is maintained to comply with the guidance set down by 
APRA.

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

28. RETAINED EARNINGS

Balance at the beginning of the year 73,071 69,407

Adjustment on transition to AASB 9 - 2,472

Adjustment on transition to AASB 16 (118) -

Restated Balance as at 1 July 72,953 71,879

Profit for the year 1,078 1,203

Transfer to redeemed preference share capital account (8) (11)

Balance at the end of the year 74,023 73,071
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2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

29. NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of Cash

Cash includes cash on hand, and deposits at call with financial institutions net of 
outstanding overdrafts.

Cash as at balance date comprises:

Cash on hand 5,595 3,431

Deposits at Call - 8,500

5,595 11,931

(b) The net cash provided by operating activities is reconciled to the net 
profit after tax

Net profit after tax 1,078 1,203

(Loss) on sale of fixed assets & intangibles (13) (15)

Bad debts written off 400 400

Depreciation & Amortisation 2,308 1,174

Changes in Assets and Liabilities

Decrease in accrued receivables 681 252

Net Decrease / (Increase) in members’ loans 32,840 (65,282)

Net Decrease / (Increase) in sundry debtors and prepayments 1,332 (504)

Decrease in financial assets at FVOCI  15 3,949

(Increase) / Decrease in net deferred tax assets and liabilities (234) 112

Net Increase in deposits 11,494 28,581

(Decrease) in payables (1,196) (466)

Increase in provision for doubtful debts 180 -

Increase in provisions for staff entitlements 450 196

(Decrease) in other provisions (231) (789)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 49,104 (31,189)

(c) Cash Flows Presented on a Net Basis

Cash flows arising from loan advances, loans repayments, member deposits, member withdrawals and from sales and purchases of 
maturing certificates of deposit have been presented on a net basis in the Statement of Cash Flows.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DISCLOSURE

(a) Interest Rate Risk

The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rate for classes of financial assets and financial 
liabilities are set out below.

Note

Effective 
interest  

rate
%

Floating 
interest  

rate
$’000

Fixed interest rate repriced in: Total carrying 
amounts as 

per Statement 
of Financial 

Position
$’000

1 year or 
less

$’000

1 to 7  
years
$’000

Non- 
interest 
bearing
$’000

Consolidated and Credit Union

2020

Financial Assets

Cash assets 10 0.45% 5,595 - - - 5,595

Due from other financial institutions 11 1.60% 12,005 201,803 45,950 - 259,758

Loans and advances 12 3.79% 412,770 134,231 296,413 - 843,414

Financial assets at FVOCI 14 n/a - - - 9,472 9,472

Total Financial Assets 430,370 336,034 342,363 9,472 1,118,239

Financial Liabilities

Deposits 19 1.22% 608,854 362,362 34,820 110 1,006,146

Interest bearing liabilities 22 0.25% - - 24,000 - 24,000

Total Financial Liabilities 608,854 362,362 58,820 110 1,030,146

Note

Effective 
interest  

rate
%

Floating 
interest  

rate
$’000

Fixed interest rate repriced in: Total carrying 
amounts as 

per Statement 
of Financial 

Position
$’000

1 year or 
less

$’000

1 to 7  
years
$’000

Non- 
interest 
bearing
$’000

Consolidated and Credit Union

2019

Financial Assets 

Cash assets 10 1.33% 11,931 - - - 11,931

Due from other financial institutions 11 2.75% 13,231 119,651 49,600 - 182,482

Loans and advances 12 4.12% 422,833 202,570 251,431 - 876,834

Other investments 14 - - - - 9,332 9,332

Total Financial Assets 447,995 322,221 301,031 9,332 1,080,579

Financial Liabilities

Deposits 19 1.64% 549,080 414,095 31,368 109 994,652

Interest bearing liabilities 22 n/a - - - - -

Total Financial Liabilities 549,080 414,095 31,368 109 994,652

n/a – not applicable for non-interest bearing financial instruments
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DISCLOSURE

(b) Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The following table sets out the Consolidated Entity’s classification of financial assets and liabilities, and their fair values.

Total Carrying amount as per 
Statement of Financial Position

Fair Value

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

CONSOLIDATED AND CREDIT UNION

Financial Assets

Cash assets 5,595 11,931 5,595 11,931

Due from other financial institutions 259,758 182,482 260,370 183,422

Loans and advances 843,414 876,834 835,153 871,165

Other investments 9,472 9,332 9,472 9,332

Total Financial Assets 1,118,239 1,080,579 1,110,590 1,075,950

Financial Liabilities

Deposits 1,006,146 994,652 1,007,294 995,454

Interest bearing liabilities 24,000 - 24,000 -

Total Financial Liabilities 1,030,146 994,652 1,031,294 995,454

i. Fair Value Hierarchy

The following table sets out the fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities. It does not include fair value information for 
financial assets and financial liabilities if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

The different levels have been defined as follows:

Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. 
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 

Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
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Aggregate fair value

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

CONSOLIDATED AND CREDIT UNION

Financial Assets

Due from other financial 
institutions

- - 260,370 183,422 - - 260,370 183,422

Loans and advances - - 835,153 871,165 - - 835,153 871,165

Other investments1 - - - - 9,472 9,332 9,472 9,332

Total Financial Assets - - 1,095,523 1,054,587 9,472 9,332 1,104,995 1,063,919

Financial Liabilities

Deposits - - 1,007,294 995,454 - - 1,007,294 995,454

Interest bearing liabilities - - 24,000 - - - 24,000 -

Total Financial Liabilities - - 1,031,294 995,454 - - 1,031,294 995,454

1. These are FVOCI assets in 2019 (2018:AFS assets)

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Level 3 Reconciliation

Balance at beginning of financial year 9,332 5,384

Purchase of investment 125 -

Disposal of investment - -

Attributable to business combination - -

AASB 9 FVOCI on initial application at 1 July 18 - 3,531

Total gains and losses - FVOCI 15 417

Balance at end of the financial year 9,472 9,332

The fair value estimates were determined by the following methodologies and assumptions:

i.  Cash and cash equivalents

  The carrying amount approximates fair value as they are short term in nature or are receivable on demand. 

ii. Receivables due from other Financial Institutions

  The fair value for financial assets held to maturity is calculated by reference to the current investment rate that would be 
obtained at balance date for investment based on the number of days remaining until maturity. Financial assets held to 
maturity are carried at amortised cost as these assets are intended to be held until maturity. 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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iii. Loans and Advances

  The carrying value of loans and advances is net of collective and specific provisions for impairment.

  For variable rate loans, excluding impaired loans, the carrying amount is considered to be a reasonable estimate of fair 
value. The fair value for fixed rate loans is calculated by utilising discounted cash flow models (i.e. the net present value of 
the portfolio future principal and interest cash flows), based on the maturity of the loans. The discount rates applied were 
based on the current applicable rate offered for the average remaining term of the portfolio.

  The fair value of impaired loans was calculated by discounting expected cash flows using a rate which includes a premium 
for the uncertainty of the flows.

iv. Deposits from Members

  The carrying amount approximates fair value for savings account balances as they are at call. The fair value of members’ 
term deposits are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis based on current market rates for term deposits having 
substantially the same terms and conditions

v. Financial assets at FVOCI

  The carrying amount of financial assets at FVOCI previously designated as available for sale (AFS) consisting of shares 
in a non-listed entity which are not actively traded. In the current financial year, the fair value of these assets has been 
estimated taking into consideration recently transacted prices for the shares in conjunction with the net tangible asset 
valuation estimate. The FVOCI and AFS investment is categorised at Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. 

vi. Interest Bearing Liabilities

  The carrying amount of interest bearing liabilities approximates its fair value.

31. COMMITMENTS

i. Lease Expenditure & Receivable Commitments

As the Consolidated Entity has implemented AASB 16 Leases without restating comparatives, lease liabilities and lease 
commitments disclosed in year ending 30 June 2020. Refer to Note 3.2 for AASB 16 impact of adoption.

Prior to 1 July 2019 transition to AASB 16 the Consolidated Entity represented all store leases as operating leases. 

The store leases typically run for a period between 1-5 years, with an option to renew the lease after lease expires. Lease payments 
are increased every year to reflect market rentals, either via CPI index plus margin, as per industry standard and/or via negotiations.

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

Within 1 year 899* 1,320

1 to 5 years 990* 2,906

Greater than 5 years - -

 1,889 4,226

*Note under AASB 16 from 1 July 2019 this does not include outgoings

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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ii. Lease Receivable commitment

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

Within 1 year 362 363

1 to 5 years 398 767

 760 1,130

iii.  Transaction Solutions Limited (TAS) commitments

The Consolidated Entity has a commitment to pay transaction fees based on a fixed agreement to TAS for at least the next 12 
months which will amount to approximately $527,202 (2019: $522,000).

32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Upcoming lease commitment

The Consolidated Entity has entered into a new lease contract commencing in August 2020 with a lease liability of $92,314.

Reserve Bank Repurchase Obligations (REPO) Trust

The Credit Union has established the securitisation Trust to provide access to emergency liquidity support in the event of a systematic 
liquidity crisis. The Trust is in substance controlled by the Credit Union. Accordingly, the Trust is consolidated into the Credit Union 
financial statements. The Credit Union sells the rights to future cash flows of eligible residential home loans into the Trust and receives 
funds equal to the aggregated outstanding balances on all loans which the Trust has purchased and subsequently issued Notes for 
Investors to invest in. Two classes of notes were issued by the Trust and both are fully owned by the Credit Union. Whilst the rights to the 
underlying cash flows have been transferred, the Credit Union has been appointed to service the loans and must continue to manage 
the loans as if it were the lender. Accordingly, the mortgage loans and associated financial liability from the Trust on transfer of the loans 
are recognised in the Credit Union’s financial statements. The balance of securitised loans at 30 June 2020 is $118,189,440 (30 June 
2019: $167,892,352). The values of securitised loans do not qualify for de-recognition from the balance sheet of the consolidated entity. 
The REPO pool was topped up by $195.9m on 29 July 2020. On the completion of the uplift the Credit Union holds $295.2m in A Class 
Notes and $18.9m in B Class Notes.  

Trademark Dispute 

The Credit Union is involved in a court case relating to a trademark dispute with Bendigo and Adelaide Bank. The information usually 
required by AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets is not disclosed on the grounds that may prejudice the 
outcome of the court case. All costs incurred up to balance date have either been paid or fully provided for. Following two court verdicts 
in favour of Community First in September 2019, the Federal Court will hear the appeal in August 2020. Community First continues to 
believe in the merits of its argument.

33. CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES 

Particulars in relation to the controlled entity:

Parent Entity
Community First Credit Union Limited.

Consolidated Entity and Credit union

2020
%

2019
%

Consolidated and Credit Union

Credit Card Company Pty Ltd. 100% 100%

Green Environmental Finance Pty Ltd. 100% 100%

easystreet Trust No. 1 100% 100%

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE  
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34. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of 
the Consolidated Entity, directly or indirectly. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities.

Key Management Personnel have been taken to comprise the directors, associate directors and the executive management team 
responsible for the day to day financial and operational management of the Consolidated Entity.

(a) Key Management Personnel Compensation

Key management personnel compensation included in “personnel expense” is as follows:

2020
$

2019
$

Consolidated and Credit Union

Short-term employee benefits 1,950,847 2,083,609

Other long term benefits 1,079,296 890,370

Post-employment benefits 187,334 204,505

Termination benefits 224,334 -

In the above table, remuneration shown as Short Term benefits includes (where applicable) wages, salaries, paid annual leave and 
paid sick leave, profit-sharing and bonuses, value of fringe benefits received, but excludes out of pocket expense reimbursements. 

(b) Loans to Key Management Personnel

2020
$

2019
$

Consolidated and Credit Union

(i) The aggregate value of loans to Key Management Personnel as at Balance 
date amounted to

345,668 734,599

The total value of revolving credit facilities to Key Management Personnel, as 
at Balance date amounted to

39,700 40,750

Less amounts drawn down and included in (i) 8,704 11,501

Net balance available 30,996 29,249

(ii) During the year the aggregate value of loans disbursed to Key Management 
Personnel amounted to:

Revolving credit facilities 249,236 187,073

Term Loans - 15,015

249,236 202,088

(iii)  During the year the aggregate value of Revolving Credit Facility limits were 
(reduced) / increased to Key Management Personnel amounted to:

(1,050) -

(iv) Interest and other revenue earned on Loans and revolving credit facilities to 
Key Management Personnel

5,776 24,978

The Consolidated Entity’s policy for lending to Key Management Personnel is that all loans are approved and deposits accepted on 
the same terms and conditions which applied to members for each class of loan or deposit. There are no loans which are impaired 
in relation to the loan balances with Key Management Personnel. There are no benefits or concessional terms and conditions 
applicable to the close family members of the Key Management Personnel. There are no loans which are impaired in relation to the 
loan balances with close family relatives of Key Management Personnel.

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE  
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(c) Other Key Management Personnel Transactions with the Consolidated Entity

Other transactions between related parties include deposits from Key Management Personnel and their related entities or close 
family members. The Consolidated Entity’s policy for receiving deposits from other related parties and, in respect of other related 
party transactions, is that all transactions are approved and deposits accepted on the same terms and conditions which applied 
to members for each type of deposit. There are no benefits paid or payable to the close family members of the Key Management 
Personnel. There are no service contracts to which Key Management Personnel or their close family members are an interested 
party.

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related Party Disclosures with respect to Key Management Personnel are set out in Note 34. 

36. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY

(a) Cuscal Limited

Cuscal supplies the Consolidated Entity rights to Member Cheques, Redicard and VISA card in Australia and provides services in the 
form of settlement with Bankers for Member Cheques, EFT and VISA card transactions, and the production of VISA and Redicards 
for use by members. 

Cuscal also supplies aggregated financial banking services to the Consolidated Entity including treasury and money market facilities. 
The Consolidated Entity maintains investments with Cuscal to comply with the Liquidity Support Scheme requirements.

(b) TransAction Solutions Limited (TAS)

TAS is a facilities management company owned by a small group of credit unions, of which Community First Credit Union is one. 
TAS provides data centre facilities management, disaster recovery and some technology support services for the Consolidated 
Entity.

(c) Ultradata Australia Pty Limited

This company provides and maintains the application software utilised by the Consolidated Entity. 

(d) Service Contracts

All service contracts are capable of being cancelled within 12 months except for TAS. The amount paid to TAS during the year for 
computer bureau facilities amount to $566,722 (2019: $522,000).

37. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Employee Leave Provision

Aggregate liability for employee entitlements, including on-costs:

2020
$‘000

2019
$‘000

Note Consolidated and Credit Union

Provision for employee annual leave 25 1,115 957

Provision for employee long service leave 25 2,481 2,190

3,596 3,147

As at 30 June 2020, the Consolidated Entity employed 144 staff, comprising 105 full-time, 37 part-time and 2 casual employees. This 
equates to a full time equivalent of 129 persons (2019: 152 staff, 108 full-time, 42 part-time and 2 casual employees. 135 full time 
equivalent).
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38. SECURITISATION

In addition to the REPO trust disclosed in Note 32 the Consolidated Entity has an arrangement with Integris Securitisation Services Pty 
Limited whereby it acts as an agent to promote loans on their behalf, for on sale to an investment trust. The Consolidated Entity also 
manages the loans portfolio on behalf of the trust. The amount of securitised loans under management as at 30 June 2020 is $4,566,528 
(2019: $5,838,051). In April 2013, Cuscal announced the closure of the Integris Securitisation program and allowed the gradual run down 
of the portfolio. The effective date of the closure commenced 1 March 2014.

39. RECEIVABLES AND ACQUISITION SERVICING AGREEMENT

The Credit Union has a Receivables Acquisition and Servicing Agreement with Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited (“BEN”) whereby the 
Credit Union is able to sell loan receivables to BEN to a maximum of $90m. As at 30 June 2020 the balance outstanding under this facility 
totalled nil (as at 30 June 2019 $nil).

40. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE

The COVID-19 outbreak has continued to impact the Australian community. Since the reporting date, the number of infections has 
increased significantly in Victoria with small spikes in cases also seen in NSW. Measures taken by the Australian government and local 
State governments to contain the virus and reduce economic hardship continue to impact the wider economy and the Consolidated 
Entity’s business. Since the reporting date, there has been no material impact on the carrying value of the Consolidated Entity’s  assets 
based on the information available as of the date of this report. The level of hardship loan repayment deferral requests and subsequent 
approvals have also declined substantially since reporting date. 

Other than disclosed above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of this financial year and the date of this report any 
item, transaction or event of a material or unusual nature, likely, in the opinion of the Directors, to significantly affect the operations of the 
Consolidated Entity, the results of operations, or the state of the affairs of the Consolidated Entity in future financial year.
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DIRECTOR’S DECLARATION 

1 In the opinion of the Directors of Community First Credit Union Limited (the Credit Union):

 (a) the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 37– 85, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

  (i)  giving a true and fair view of the Credit Union’s and the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its 
performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and 

  (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

 (b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Credit Union will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable.

2  The Directors draw attention to Note 2 to the financial statement, which includes a statement of compliance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Mr Stephen Nugent Mr Kenneth Pickering 
Chair   Chair of Board Audit and Risk Committees

Dated at Sydney this 27th day of August 2020. 
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Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under
Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001

To the Directors of Community First Credit Union Limited 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Community First Credit Union Limited for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2020 there have been:

i.  no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation 
to the audit; and

ii.  no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPMG    Nicholas Buchanan 
Partner

      Sydney 
27 August 2020
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of Community First Credit Union Limited 

Opinions

Basis for opinions

Other Information

We have audited the Financial Report of Community 
First Credit Union Limited (the Credit Union) and the 
Financial Report of the Group.

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial Reports of 
the Credit Union and the Group are in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001, including:

•  giving a true and fair view of the Credit Union and 
Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and 
of its financial performance for the year ended on 
that date; and

•  complying with Australian Accounting Standards 
and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

The respective Financial Reports of the Credit Union 
and the Group comprises:

•  Consolidated and Credit union’s statements of 
financial position as at 30 June 2020.

•  Consolidated and Credit Union’s statements of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
statements of changes in equity, and statements 
of cash flows for the year then ended.

•  Notes including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 

•  Directors’ Declaration.

The Group consists of Community First Credit Union 
Limited (the Credit Union) and the entities it controlled 
at the year-end or from time to time during the financial 
year.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
Financial Reports section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and Credit Union in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the 
ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Reports in Australia. We have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Community First Credit Union Limited’s annual 
reporting which is provided in addition to the Financial Reports and the Auditor’s Report. The Directors are 
responsible for the Other Information. 

Our opinion on the Financial Reports do not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not express an 
audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Reports

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audits of the Financial Reports

The Directors are responsible for:

•  preparing Financial Reports that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Corporations Act 2001;

•  implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of Financial Reports that gives a true and 
fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and

•  assessing the Group and Credit Union's ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use of the 
going concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the 
Group and Credit Union or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Our objective is: 

•  to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Reports as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and 

•  to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the Financial 
Reports.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Reports is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf. This 
description forms part of our Auditor’s Report.

KPMG    Nicholas Buchanan 
Partner

      Sydney 
27 August 2020

In connection with our audit of the Financial Reports, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. In 
doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Reports or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, and 
based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained prior to the date of this 
Auditor's Report we have nothing to report.

https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf
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An invitation to have your say
Community First Credit Union is a member owned organisation. 
As a member, you are encouraged to attend the Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) to catch up with the past year’s performance; to 
listen to plans for the future; to have your say and to vote on any 
matter on the Agenda. If you are a member over the age of 18 and a 
current member shareholder, you are eligible to vote at the AGM.

The business at hand
In accordance with the Constitution of Community First three 
Directors, being Ken Pickering, Rocky Scopelliti and Gary Thomson 
will retire this year, and being eligible for re-election, intend to stand 
again. Should you wish to nominate someone for a position on the 
Board, an official nomination form can be obtained by contacting 
Community First Direct on 1300 13 22 77. All nominations must 
be received by the Returning Officer at the address shown on the 
nomination form by 4.00pm Friday 7 August 2020. If there are more 
than three nominations, a postal ballot will be conducted, otherwise 
the current directors will be re-elected.

The Banking Act and the related Fit and Proper Australian Prudential 
Standard, requires that directors or potential directors of an 
Authorised Deposit-Taking Institution, of which Community First 
is one, be subject to a “Fit and Proper Person” test. This includes 
conducting checks with the Australian Federal Police, Bankruptcy 
Registers, the ASIC Register of Banned and Disqualified Persons 
and be eligible to be registered and approved as an accountable 
person with APRA and under any relevant prudential standard. The 
standards also require that a director of an Approved Deposit-Taking 
Institution must have appropriate skills, experience and knowledge 
and must act with honesty and integrity. The Board Nominations 
Committee, whose role is to review nominees for the position of 
Director and advise members of the suitability of the nominee to 
fulfil the role of Director of Community First, will interview candidates 
for the election of directors, including the retiring directors, to verify 
their claimed knowledge and experience to ensure they have the 
necessary skills for the role and to establish a view as to whether or 
not they will be considered suitable for election as directors.

Further information
The official notice of Community First’s AGM will be sent to 
members who have opted in to receive personal notice and will be 
advertised in the Public Notices section of The Sydney Morning 
Herald at least 21 days prior to the AGM. The notice will also be 
displayed in each of our Financial Services Stores and available from 
our website: communityfirst.com.au/2020AGM. Copies of Financial 
Statements and the Report of the Directors will be available at each 
of our Financial Services Stores from no later than 30 September 
2020.

Attendance at AGM
Attendance at the AGM and other meetings of members of 
Community First enables members to:

❙   Participate in the governance of Community First;

❙   Discuss any proposal you would like the Directors to consider in 
the future for Community First. 

❙   Ask the auditor questions about the conduct of the audit and 
about the preparation and content of the auditor’s report.

You have the option of appointing a proxy to vote on your behalf 
at this meeting. Your proxy can be a person specifically named by 
you or can be the Chairperson of the meeting, as stated by you on 
the proxy form. You may request a proxy form on the coupon in this 
newsletter.

Details for your diary

61st Annual General Meeting

Place:   Community First Credit Union 
67-73 St Hilliers Road, Auburn (entrance via Hall Street)

Date:  Thursday 22 October 2020

Time:  Registration of attendees will commence at 1.00pm;  
the meeting will commence at 2.00pm

RSVP:  If you plan to attend, please contact  
Community First Direct on 1300 13 22 77 by  
10 October 2020

NOTIFICATION OF COMMUNITY FIRST CREDIT 
UNION 61ST ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
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GLOSSARY

AGM Annual General Meeting is commonly abbreviated as AGM and is the meeting of the general 
membership of the credit union.

Amigo The Amigo Credit Card is a white-label credit card product offered to other credit unions to provide to 
their members under an agreed shared-income arrangement. 

Google Pay A digital wallet platform developed by Google that offers members a smart way to make fast purchases 
with compatible credit or debit cards, across Android devices that is both simple and secure.

Apple Pay Apple Pay is a digital wallet from Apple which lets users use a compatible iPhone, Apple Watch or iPad 
to make secure contactless purchases in stores, within selected apps and participating websites.

BuiLD BuiLD is a new and comprehensive 17 week learning and development program for staff providing them 
with the skills and knowledge to best serve our members. 

Club Rewards An innovative and unique account with a Visa Debit card which is designed to integrate with the rewards 
or loyalty programs of participating clubs. 

Corporate Governance The system of rules, relationships, policies and processes by which a business is operated, regulated 
and controlled by. 

Community Banking A financial institution which is typically locally owned and operated and tends to focus on the needs of 
supporting and helping the local community where the institution is located. 

Credit Union A credit union is a member-owned financial co-operative. These institutions are created and operated 
by their members and profits are shared amongst the owners and future generations.

Customer Owned 
Banking 

Alternative banking model to the listed model in retail banking and is made up of mutual banks, credit 
unions and building societies who aim to deliver great service, highly competitive pricing and an 
unmatched customer focus to their members. 

Distribution network  
or channels 

How we reach our members or how our members reach us. This can include the website, social media, 
Financial Services Stores or via our call centre.

easystreet easystreet is an online only self-service financial services brand owned by Community First Credit Union. 

Green Loan The green loan is an unsecured personal loan that can be used to finance the purchase of approved 
environmentally friendly products such as solar panels and hot water systems.

Loans to members Is the total amount owed to Community First from home loans, personal loans, credit cards and 
overdrafts. 

Macro-prudential 
controls

Macro-prudential controls are approaches to financial regulation which aim to mitigate risk to the 
financial system as a whole. 

Matrimoney A Matrimoney account is a safer and more convenient way for engaged couples to request the gift of 
money instead of presents for their wedding day. 

McGrath Foundation A breast cancer support and education charity in Australia, which raises money to place McGrath 
Breast Care Nurses in communities right across Australia, as well as increasing breast awareness in 
young Australian women. 

Member A member is a shareholder. Meaning a member ‘owns’ part of the credit union and can have their say of 
the credit union’s future at the AGM which is held annually. 

Member Deposits Consists of at-call savings, term deposits and membership shares

Mobile Banking App A software application that is designed to run on mobile devices such as smartphones and tablet 
computers.

Mutuality The concept that a financial institution exists for its members: being customer owned organisations, 
they are fully owned by their members. It is not a publicly-listed company and so, unlike the publicly-
listed banks, don’t have the pressure to maximise profits to pay external shareholders. Instead under 
mutuality profits go back into better rates, fairer fees, responsible lending and outstanding customer 
service. 

Net Promoter Score 
(NPS) 

A metric used to measure member advocacy i.e. how readily a member would promote a product or 
service to friends, family members or colleagues.
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GLOSSARY

AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board 

ADI Authorised Deposit-taking Institution 

AFSL Australian Financial Services Licence

ACL Australian Credit Licence

AGM Annual General Meeting 

ALCO Assets and Liabilities Committee

AIFRS
Australian Equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards

APRA Australian Prudential Regulation Authority   

ASIC Australian Securities and Investments Commission 

ATO Australian Tax Office

BEAR Banking Executive Accountability Regime

CAPE Combined Australia Petroleum Employees

CEO Chief Executive Officer

COBA Customer Owned Banking Association   

CUFFS Credit Union Financial Support System 

CUSCAL Credit Union Services Corporation Australia Limited 

ECL Expected Credit Loss

EOWA
Equal Opportunity for Women in the Workplace 
Agency 

FSR Financial Services Reform

FVOCI Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income

FVTPL Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

GST Goods and Services Tax

HLQA High Quality Liquid Assets

ICAAP Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process

NBCU Northern Beaches Credit Union 

NPP New Payments Platform

NPS Net Promoter Score 

OCI Other Comprehensive Income

SPPI Solely Payments of Principal Interest

TAS Transaction Solutions 

VAR Value at Risk 

WHS Work Health and Safety

ABBREVIATIONS

New Payments Platform Allows payments to be received almost instantly – 24/7 using just the member’s mobile number, email 
address or ABN, eliminating the need to share a BSB or an account number.

PayID PayID is the name of the New Payments Platform addressing service. It’s a function of the platform that 
allows consumers to link financial accounts to easy-to-remember pieces of information such as phone 
numbers and email addresses.

Products Products are banking products that are created by the credit union. These can be items such as credit 
cards, home loans, term deposits and transactions accounts.

Financial Services Royal 
Commission

A Royal Commission into Misconduct in the Banking, Superannuation and Financial Services Industry 
which was established on 14 December 2017. 

Samsung Pay Samsung Pay is a mobile payment and digital wallet service by Samsung Electronics that lets users 
make payments using compatible phones and other Samsung-produced devices.

Starburst Day Is the credit union’s staff development day that is held annually.

Total Assets Is the total of all Community First Credit Union assets. 

Total Members Equity Is the accumulated profits and reserves held by Community First. The credit union’s member equity now 
exceeds $78.5 million. The credit union has never been stronger.
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LOCATIONS



1. BANKSTOWN 
02 9735 1783 
Bankstown RSL, 
1 Meredith Street

2.  BELMONT 
02 4393 8486 
571 Pacific Highway

3.  BLACKTOWN 
02 9735 1571 
Blacktown Workers Club 
55 Campbell Street

4.  CRONULLA 
02 8245 8270 
Suit 109, Level 1 
28-32 The Kingsway

5.  DEE WHY 
02 8245 8200 
17-19 Oaks Avenue

6.  EDGEWORTH 
02 4954 3225 
Shop 1, Building B 
Edgeworth Town Square

7.  ERINA 
02 4393 8480 
Shop T377, Erina Fair

8.  GOROKAN 
02 4393 8481 
66-68 Wallarah Road

9.  LIVERPOOL 
02 9735 1782 
Shop 167, Westfield Liverpool

10. MT DRUITT 
02 9735 1781 
Shop 11, Westfield Mt Druitt

11. NARELLAN 
02 9735 1784 
Shop 309, Narellan Town Centre

12. PENRITH 
02 9735 1780 
Shop 032, Nepean Village

13. WARRIEWOOD 
02 8245 8230 
Shop SP018, Warriewood Square



ABN 80 087 649 938     AFSL/Australian credit licence 231204

REGISTERED OFFICE
Level 2, 67-73 St Hilliers Road, Auburn NSW 2144
PO Box 98, Lidcombe NSW 1825

CONTACT US
1300 13 22 77 
askus@communityfirst.com.au 
www.communityfirst.com.au




